
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
 
THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 
Date: 
 

Thursday, 12 October 2017 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 
 

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

4 October 2017 
 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
ii) Other Interests 

 
 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6) 

4. Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes (Pages 7 - 26) 

5. Glossop Creative Industries Assessment (Pages 27 - 36) 

6. Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and Neglect (Pages 37 - 42) 

7. Growth Strategy (Pages 43 - 78) 

8. Business Rates Revaluation and Local Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme (Pages 
79 - 108) 

9. Recommendations from Select Committees  

10. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

11. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 109 - 112) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



12. Disposal of extended leasehold interest in the former Swineshaw water treatment 
works   at Blackshaw Road/ Bute Street, Glossop (Pages 113 - 122) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 

13. Contract Award - Structural Engineering Services Framework (Pages 123 - 126) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 

14. Sale of freehold interest in land at Woodsmill, Glossop (Pages 127 - 134) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 

 
SIMON BAKER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

Membership of The Executive 
Councillor T Ashton (Chair) Councillor T Kemp (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor J McCabe Councillor E Thrane 

 



 

1 
 

 
 

THE EXECUTIVE 
 

Meeting: Thursday, 3 August 2017 at 6.30 pm in The Committee Room, Pavilion 
Gardens, Buxton 
 

Present: Councillor T Ashton (Chair)  
 

 Councillors T Kemp, J McCabe and E Thrane 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Haken and A 
McKeown 
 

18/11 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
(Agenda Item 2) 
 
There were no declarations made. 
 

18/12 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 3) 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2017 be approved 
 

18/13 HERITAGE GRANTS SCHEME 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
The purpose of the report was to seek Members’ approval to suspend the 
Heritage Regeneration Grants (HRG) for the foreseeable future and direct 
the budget towards the continued investment in, and public use of, the 
Council’s own historic public buildings.   
 
Options considered: 
 

 Recommended to discontinue the HRG for the immediate 
future and to use the budget of £45,000 per annum towards 
investing in the council’s own historic building stock that is held 
in trust for future generations. 
  

 Not recommended to continue with the HRG. Whilst this would 
potentially secure a number of further restoration and repair 
projects, these would be district wide and lack the focus of 
being targeted more strategically towards key heritage council 
owned buildings.  
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That approval for the scheme be suspended indefinitely while the Council is 
committed to carrying out similar works on those heritage buildings that are 
in council ownership. It is not proposed to bring a formal end to the scheme 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 3 August 2017 

 

 
 

as it may be considered desirable to reinstate it at a later date when other 
priorities have been addressed.  

 
18/14 FIRST QUARTER FINANCE, PROCUREMENT & PERFORMANCE 

REVIEW 2017/18 
(Agenda Item 5) 
 
The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th June 2017 
(“first quarter 2017/18”). The report was considered by the Corporate Select 
Committee on 24 July 2017.  The position was summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline 

Finance The finance headlines for the first quarter were: 

Performance against Budget 

 The General Fund budget for 2016/17 was forecast to be underspent 
by £378,700 at the Quarter 1 stage. 

Efficiency Programme 

 The overall efficiency target of £310,000 for 2017/18 was projected 
to be achieved at the First Quarter stage.  However, this was 
dependent on the progression of key efficiency programmes.  Any 
shortfall could be partially funded using the £100,000 earmarked 
reserve established to meet some of the one-off/short-term costs 
incurred in implementing the programme. 

Housing Revenue Account 

 The Housing Revenue Account was forecast to be in surplus by 
£218,470 at the Quarter 1 stage.  

Capital Programme 

 The Capital Programme budget for 2017/18 was £6.12m and was 
forecast to be on target at this early stage.  However, this was 
dependent on the progress of a number of schemes. 

 The HRA Capital Programme for 2017/18 was £4.15 million, with 
spend forecast to be on target at quarter 1 stage. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 30th June 2017 totalled £14.9 million. 

 Council borrowing at 30th June 2017 totalled £72.2 million. 

 The Council’s net interest receipts general fund budget was 
projected to be underspent by £155,000, with a £160,000 overspend 
on the HRA due to a change in the split of interest payable based on 
the ‘one pool ‘ approach to borrowing  

Revenue Collection 

 29.6% of Council Tax was collected by 30th June 2017, compared to Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 3 August 2017 

 

 
 

Subject Headline 

30.0% for the same period last year. 

 30.3% of Business Rates was collected by 30th June 2017 
compared with 28.0% for the same period last year (2017/18 
distorted by an upfront payment form a large ratepayer) 

 At the end of quarter one the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 
was £263,936 which compared to £256,375 at 30th June 2016 

Procurement The procurement headlines for the first quarter were: 

 37 procurement activities were completed (4 high value >£172k – 
including HRA kitchen refurbishments & roofing works and Buxton 
Opera House repairs)  

 The procurement forward plan included 54 procurement activities 
scheduled for 2017/18 (either HPBC only or joint)  

 At 30th June 2017, 65% of procurement activity undertaken was on 
the forward plan and the Council paid 94% of its invoices within 30 
days 

Performance The Performance headlines for the First Quarter were: 

  72% of the key performance indicators were on track 

 Of the 19 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, one was rated 
‘amber’, the remainder being classified as ‘green’; and 

 The Council received 82 complaints, 108 comments and 41 
compliments in the First Quarter. Repeat complaints and response 
times were both on track  

 

 
Options considered: 
 
Detailed analysis was contained within the appendices. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the first quarter 2017/18 financial, procurement and performance 
position as detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the 
covering report be noted. 
 

18/15 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO TENANCY AGREEMENT 
(Agenda Item 6) 
 
The purpose of the report was to make Members aware of the need to up-
date the Council’s current Tenancy Agreement and the extent of the 
changes recommended.   
 
Options considered: 
 

 Recommended to continue with work to consult on and implement 
the amendments to the Tenancy Agreement. 
 

 Not recommended to amend the Tenancy Agreement. 
 
 
 
 Page 5



The Executive 
Thursday, 3 August 2017 

 

 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the content of the report be noted and officers continue to progress 
changes to the Tenancy Agreement.  
 

18/16 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
(Agenda Item 7) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.   
 

18/17 EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 8) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 15 June 
2017 be approved. 
 

18/18 BUXTON CRESCENT AND THERMAL SPA: HYDROGEOLOGICAL 
ADVICE AND CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION 
(Agenda Item 9) 
 
The Executive approved a report with regards to the construction works 
associated with the Buxton Crescent and Thermal Spa project and 
hydrogeological matters. 
 

18/19 RIVER WORKS AT WARM BROOK, CHAPEL-EN-LE-FRITH AND 
SERPENTINE, BUXTON - UPDATE AND CONTRACT AWARD 
(Agenda Item 10) 
 
The Executive noted the outcomes of the specification work, commissioned 
by the Council and awarded the contracts as set out in Section 9 of the 
report. 
 

18/20 DOMESTIC HEATING BOILER RENEWALS TO HRA PROPERTIES - 
CONTRACT AWARD REPORT 
(Agenda Item 11) 
 
The Executive noted the outcome of tender exercise and approved the 
award of the contract for boiler replacements to Dodd Group (Midlands) Ltd. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 6.46 pm 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 
Page 6



 
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to the Executive 
 

12 October 2017 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Appendices Attached  
Appendix A – Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes 

 
 

1. Reason for the Report 
 

 The report presents a revised policy that aims to further improve the Council’s 
approach to tackling environmental crimes such as littering, fly-tipping and dog 
fouling.  

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executives notes the content of the report.  
 
2.2 That the Executive approves the proposed Policy on the Enforcement 

of Environmental Crimes. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 The Council revised its approach to responding to environmental crimes 
in December 2014 with the aim of adopting “a more flexible approach 
through the multi skilling of a large number of employees with existing 
enforcement capability within their job roles”. 

 

TITLE: Policy on Enforcement of Environmental 
Crimes 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Julie McCabe, Executive Councillor for 

Housing 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Executive Director (People) and Monitoring 

Officer 
   

WARDS INVOLVED: All 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



3.2 This approach has been reviewed and this has resulted in the 
development of a revised Policy on the Enforcement of Environmental 
Crimes. The policy is provided at Appendix A. 

 
3.3 The policy suggests adopting a triple-track approach to responding to 

environmental crimes involving education, enforcement, and cleansing. 
 
3.4 Under the new policy, enforcement activity will primarily be carried out 

by the Council’s Environment Enforcement Officers and the Geographic 
and Specialist Service Supervisors for Street Cleaning, Parks and 
Waste. Responsibility for the enforcement of environmental crime will 
move from Regulatory Services to Democratic and Community Services 
to strengthen the link between the response to environmental crime and 
other forms of anti-social behaviour, and also to further develop the 
links to other locality-based activity delivered by the latter service. 

 
3.5 Officers will normally issue a fixed penalty notice where an offence of 

abandoning a vehicle, littering, fly-tipping, fly-posting or dog fouling has 
occurred and may also consider recovering the cost of removal. There 
are a number of situations when the Council would consider that the 
issuing of a fixed penalty notice may not be appropriate and instead 
would seek to prosecute under the relevant legislation.  

 
3.6 Hot spot maps of reported environmental crimes will be produced on a 

quarterly basis to help guide activity and, in addition, the Geographic 
and Specialist Service Supervisors will provide a monthly briefing 
highlighting areas for the enforcement officers to prioritise. 

 
3.7 The policy sets out a formal approach to payment by instalments, in the 

interests of fairness and consistency, with the aim of both assisting 
those whose circumstances would make it difficult for them to pay the 
full amount within 14 days and also as a means of improving payment 
rates. 

 
3.8 The policy also reiterates the Council’s approach to environmental 

crimes committed by young people aged 17 or under. 
 
 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The proposed policy will assist the Council to meet its corporate priority 
of protecting and improving the environment. 

 
 

5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 To approve the policy on environmental enforcement and the revised 
approach to enforcement activity described therein (recommended). 

 
5.2 Not to approve the policy on environmental enforcement and to 

continue with the existing approach (not recommended). 

Page 8



 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1  Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The policy will assist the Council to improve community safety by 
addressing behaviour that adversely affects the local environment. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
The arrangements introduced in December 2014 resulted in a 
relatively large number of people being granted the power to enforce 
against environmental crimes. These powers have not been, however, 
fully utilised and it has been recognised that it is difficult for officers to 
carry out enforcement in a consistent and appropriate manner when 
they are not involved in enforcement action on a regular basis. Under 
the revised policy, responsibility for enforcement is focussed on a 
smaller number of suitably equipped officers with the capacity and 
appropriate training to undertake enforcement activity.  
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There are no specific implications. Individual services will, however, 
be required to consider the impact on individuals when carrying out 
enforcement activity in line with the Council’s General Policy on 
Enforcement. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
None – any costs will be met from within existing service budgets. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998, as amended by the Police and 
Justice Act 2006, places an obligation on the Authority to work in 
partnership to reduce behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment. 
 
The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 provides 
local authorities with the power to address certain types of 
environmental problems. The Community Protection Notice is a broad 
power that replaces litter abatement notices, litter clearing notices and 
street litter clearance notices that were previously available under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, and defacement removal notices 
under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003. Public Spaces Protection 
Orders replace, amongst other things, dog control orders under the 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 and this again is 
intended to be a broad power to tackle activities that affect the quality 
of life.  
 

Page 9



Individual environmental offences are covered by specific legislation, 
in particular the Environmental Protection Act 1990 which prohibits the 
unauthorised or harmful deposit, treatment or disposal of waste (fly-
tipping), and littering. 
 
Local authorities have the power to issue fixed penalty notices for 
environmental crimes primarily under the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990, the Clean Neighbourhoods Act 2005, and Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
 
Not applicable. 
 

6.7 
 
 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
None. 
 

6.8 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
The policy will assist the Authority to manage the risks associated with 
carrying out enforcement activity. In particular, restricting the number 
of enforcement officers will allow the Authority to reduce the risks by 
ensuring that they are appropriately equipped and trained. 

 

7.         Background and Detail 

Current Approach 

7.1 The Council revised its approach to responding to environmental crimes 
in December 2014 and Councillors were provided with an update on 
work towards implementing the new arrangements in June 2016. In 
brief, the proposed approach was to “adopt a more flexible approach 
through the multi skilling of a large number of employees with existing 
enforcement capability within their job roles” with an intention to roll out 
the key elements of an enviro crimes team approach by July 2016. 

 
7.2 Training was provided to frontline officers and two focussed patrols day 

took place in late 2016 to supplement the activities of the two dedicated 
environmental enforcement officers. The patrols resulted in: 
 

• 43 dog walkers being offered advice on dog fouling and dog 

chipping requirements – with 12 pet owners also being issued 

with dog waste bag rolls 

• 21 pedestrians being offered advice on littering and five portable 

ashtrays issued to smokers 

• Taxi drivers at ranks in Buxton and Glossop were reminded of 

the new licensing policy. 
 

Page 10



7.3 This was followed by another enforcement day in June 2017 with 
stencilling carried out in hot spot locations for dog fouling and high 
profile patrols in Glossop, Buxton and New Mills. 

 
Performance 

7.4 The table below shows requests for service over the last five financial 
years. As can be seen, the number of reports of abandoned vehicle has 
increased significantly in recent years. 

 
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Abandoned Vehicle 63 58 88 182 267 

Dog Fouling 499 462 366 323 282 

Fly-tipping 455 441 521 567 567 

Graffiti 15 5 9 14 24 

Request for Street Cleaning 648 638 657 556 622 

 

7.5 The number of fixed penalty notices issued for dog fouling and littering 
in the Borough are shown below.  

 

 
Next Steps 

 
7.6 Appendix A proposes a revised policy aimed at further developing the 

Council’s approach to addressing environmental crimes.  
 
7.7 The policy suggests adopting a triple-track approach to responding to 

environmental crimes involving:  
 

• Education - educating the public, such as through signage, use of 
warnings, action days and publicity campaigns; 

• Enforcement – environmental crimes are illegal, which means 
that enforcement action will be pursued where necessary and 
appropriate; and 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

fi
xe

d
 p

e
n

al
ty

 n
o

ti
ce

s 

Litter Dog fouling

Page 11



• Cleansing – the Council carries out a routine programme of 
cleansing adopted highways and other public spaces, such as 
parks and play areas. This is supplemented by responsive action 
to reported problems and extra sweeping when needed (for 
instance in busy visitor areas or after major events). 

 
7.8 Under the new policy, enforcement activity will primarily be carried out 

by the Council’s: 
 

 Environment Enforcement Officers; and 

 Geographic and Specialist Service Supervisors for Street 
Cleaning, Parks and Waste. 

 
7.9 Responsibility for enforcement of environmental crime will move from 

Regulatory Services to Democratic and Community Services to 
strengthen the link between the response to environmental crime and 
other forms of anti-social behaviour, and also to further develop link to 
other locality-based activity delivered by the latter service. 

 
7.10 The work of the enforcement officers should assist the Council’s Street 

Scene Service (AES in the future) to keep our neighbourhoods clean by 
focussing on priority areas and thus reducing the need for cleansing. It 
is proposed that hot spot maps of reported environmental crimes be 
produced on a quarterly basis to help guide activity. In addition, it is 
proposed that the Geographic and Specialist Service Supervisors 
provide a monthly briefing highlighting areas for the enforcement 
officers to prioritise. 

 
7.11 Officers will normally issue a fixed penalty notice where an offence of 

abandoning a vehicle, littering, fly-tipping, fly-posting or dog fouling has 
occurred. The Council may also consider recovering the cost of 
removal. There are a number of situations when the Council would 
consider that the issuing of a fixed penalty notice may not be 
appropriate and instead would seek to prosecute under the relevant 
legislation. This includes where the offender has previously been issued 
with a fixed penalty, or has been convicted, for an environmental 
offence; for large-scale environmental crimes; or where the offender is 
aggressive to officers. 

 
7.12 A number of local authorities offer the option of payment by instalments 

in cases where the individual would find it difficult to pay the full amount 
of the fixed penalty within the required 14 day time period. According to 
DEFRA guidance on fixed penalty notices, such approaches can assist 
in improving payment rates. The Council has given permission to pay 
instalments on a case-by-case basis but has lacked a clear policy on 
this matter. 

 
7.13 It is suggested that the Council adopts a formal approach to payment by 

instalments, in the interests of fairness and consistency, with the aim of 
both assisting those whose circumstances would make it difficult for 

Page 12



them to pay the full amount within 14 days and also as a means of 
improving payment rates. 

 
7.14 The policy reiterates that if the Council intends to carry out targeted 

enforcement activity close to a school in response to reported problems, 
then they will endeavour to undertake an education initiative at the 
school prior to enforcement patrols taking place. The Council, however, 
recognises that there may be occasions where an enforcement officer 
observes a young person aged 17 or under littering during the course of 
their normal duties and not as part of targeted action. The Council will, 
however, in appropriate cases seek to provide an alternative to paying a 
fixed penalty for those aged 16 or under at the time of the offence. 

 
 
 
 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer 

 
 
Background Papers Location Contact details 

 
David Smith x 4165 

 

 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

 

Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes 

 

1 Introduction 

This policy has been produced to support the Councils’ commitments to protect and 

improve the environment. The Councils believe that: 

 Tackling environmental crimes is a priority for local communities in both local 

authority areas.  

 Environmental crimes are unsightly and make our towns, villages and other 

areas less attractive for residents and visitors alike. 

 Environmental crimes can result in negative perceptions of an area and make it 

feel unsafe and uncared for. 

 Maintaining clean neighbourhoods benefits the local economy by improving the 

image of the area and thereby attracting more visitors and customers, 

encouraging investment in local businesses, increasing house prices and 

assisting businesses to retain employees. 

 The cost to local residents of clearing up after environmental crime is 

considerable. 

 Waste can take years to degrade and can be costly to remove. It can be 

harmful to health and, for example, lead to cuts, puncture wounds and 

subsequent infections for children and others that come into contact with it. 

Waste can cause harm to wildlife and habitats, and can attract pigeons and 

vermin such as rats. 

The Councils will adopt a triple-track approach to responding to environmental 

crimes involving:  

• Education - educating the public, such as through signage, use of warnings, 

action days and publicity campaigns; 

• Enforcement – environmental crimes are illegal, which means that 

enforcement action will be pursued where necessary and appropriate; and 

Page 15



 

2 
 

• Cleansing – the councils carry out routine programmes of cleansing adopted 

highways and other public spaces, such as parks and play areas. These are 

supplemented by responsive action to reported problems and extra sweeping 

when needed (for instance in busy visitor areas or after major events). 

The purpose of the policy is to set out the Councils’ approaches to education and 

enforcement in relation to environmental crime. It is intended to ensure that each 

Council follows a standard approach and, in particular, that the approach to 

enforcement of environmental crimes is consistent, balanced, fair, transparent and 

proportional.  

The policy recognises that each incident of environmental crime is unique and must 

be considered on its own merits but sets out the general principles that will be 

applied by the Council’s officers.  

This document should be read in conjunction with the Councils’ General Policy 

Statements on Enforcement and any specific policies on individual environmental 

crimes.  

2 What is Environmental Crime? 

Environmental crime is generally used to describe any illegal activity that harms the 

environment1 but there is no universally agreed definition. In the broadest sense, it 

includes waste crime and activities such as wildlife crime, illegal resource extraction, 

and fraud around sustainability and carbon trading permits. In addition to 

environmental impacts, it can also have serious human health and social impacts. 

High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council have 

adopted a pragmatic approach to defining environmental crime based upon their 

remit and concerns of residents. The Council defines environmental crime as 

encompassing: 

 Abandoning vehicles; 

 Dog fouling; 

 Fly-posting; 

 Fly-tipping;2 

                                                           
1
 Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology (2017). 

2
 ss 33 and 34 Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

Page 16



 

3 
 

 Graffiti; and 

 Littering. 

Table 1 shows the number of each environmental crime type reported to the Council 

over the past three financial years. 

Table 1 Levels of Environmental Crime 

 

High Peak Staffordshire Moorland 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Abandoned Vehicle 88 182 267 51 128 201 

Dog Fouling 366 323 282 289 280 215 

Fly-posting 17 17 11 5 10 15 

Flytipping 521 567 567 503 558 526 

Graffiti 9 14 24 14 29 14 

Request for Street 

Cleaning 
657 556 622 498 531 501 

 

4. The Councils’ Approach to Education 

The Council believes that education plays an important role in tackling environmental 

crime. It encompasses the whole range of ways in which the Council communicates 

about environmental crime from large scale media campaigns to the use of small-

scale messages. Messages may be aimed broadly at raising general awareness, or 

targeted at specific groups of people such as students, drivers, consumers of food 

on-the-go, etc. 

The Council has taken part in a number of national campaigns in recent years, such 

as those delivered by Keep Britain Tidy, and will continue to look for opportunities to 

support such campaigns locally. 

The Council will also use small-scale messages to respond to locally identified 

problems. For example, the Council has developed the Dog Watch Campaign, which 

consists of signage, postcards for delivery to people’s homes, banners, and 

materials to use in schools. Typically the campaign is run in a small, targeted area 

for a period of 3-4 weeks before being moved into another area to maximise impact. 

Page 17



 

4 
 

In addition to the Dog Watch Campaign material, the Council has developed various 

other signs, such as relating to littering from vehicles, which can be used to respond 

to environmental crimes. The Council will continue this approach to respond to 

specific problems and will develop further bespoke material as needed. 

Historically, the Council has co-ordinated multi-agency clear-up days that have been 

primarily led by the Community Safety team, but which have often had a strong 

environmental focus. These have gone by various names such as action days/weeks 

and beat sweeps. A key element has been engaging local communities in litter picks 

and other environmental improvements. Street Scene has also assisted local 

community groups that wish to carry out their own clean-ups by providing litter picks 

and collecting bagged waste afterwards. 

The Council will continue to use this approach to target action in hot spot areas that 

require more intensive action. 

5 The Council's Approach to Enforcement 

Experience has shown that enforcement action is most effective where it is targeted 

in the right places at the right times, and carried out by suitably equipped officers 

with the capacity and appropriate training to undertake enforcement activity. 

Enforcement activity, particularly the issuing of fixed penalty notices face-to-face, 

can often lead to confrontational situations. It can be difficult for officers to apply 

council policies in a consistent and appropriate manner if they are not involved in 

enforcement action on a regular basis and not all council officers have the necessary 

temperament for enforcement activity. The Council also recognises that the safety of 

officers is paramount. 

For these reasons, enforcement activity will primarily be carried out by the Councils’: 

 Environment Enforcement Officers; and 

 The Geographic and Specialist Service Supervisors for Street Cleaning, Parks 

and Waste.  

Each officer will be allocated with a body-worn video camera for use when carrying 

out enforcement activity. This will be switched on, where possible, as soon as the 

officers suspect an offence has been committed, or is about to be committed, and 

will be kept on until the interaction has ended. For the avoidance of doubt, the lack of 

Page 18



 

5 
 

a body worn video camera, or failure to record on a particular occasion, would not 

preclude the council from pursuing enforcement action if there is sufficient evidence 

and it is in the public interest to do so. The cameras are intended to both assist with 

evidence gathering but also to protect the officer from physical of verbal abuse and 

can be used in the event of complaints against an officer. 

Other Council officers, particularly operational officers working in the community, will 

be expected to provide intelligence to enable enforcement activity to be effectively 

targeted. This could include providing evidence of people discarding litter from 

vehicles. A webform has been developed to allow officers to report information. 

Street Scene currently provides the initial response to reports of fly-tipping. Officers 

examine the fly-tipping for any evidence and, where such evidence exists, record the 

information and then pass it to the Environment Enforcement Officers to take 

forward. This arrangement will continue following formation of Alliance 

Environmental Services (AES). 

Operational Service staff members will also be expected to assist the Council to 

respond to reports of abandoned vehicles by checking whether vehicles remain in 

the reported location and providing descriptions and photographs of reported 

vehicles when requested to do so by the Environment Enforcement Officers. 

Targeting Activity 

It is important that enforcement activity is targeted in those areas where 

environmental crimes are occurring. The council keeps records of problems reported 

by members of the public and these can be analysed to produce maps of problem 

areas. Information about ‘hot spot’ areas can also be provided by councillors and 

frontline council workers. 

It is proposed that hot spot maps of reported environmental crimes be produced on a 

quarterly basis to help guide activity. 

The work of the enforcement officers should assist the Council’s Street Scene 

Service (AES) to keep our neighbourhoods clean by focussing on priority areas and 

thus reducing the need for cleansing. The Geographic and Specialist Service 

Supervisors will provide a monthly briefing highlighting areas for the enforcement 

officers to prioritise. 

Page 19



 

6 
 

Response 

Officers will normally issue a fixed penalty notice where an offence of abandoning a 

vehicle, littering, fly-tipping, fly-posting or dog fouling has occurred (Appendix A).. 

The Council may also consider recovering the cost of removal. This reflects the zero 

tolerance approach being taken by each Council to tackle environmental crimes. The 

FPN is issued as an alternative to the person being prosecuted through the courts. If 

an FPN is issued then the offender has 14 days to discharge their full liability for the 

offence by paying the FPN. The Council will normally seek to prosecute if someone 

fails to pay the FPN within the specified timescale. 

Where the defacement of an area by waste is detrimental to the amenity of the 

locality then this would normally be dealt with through a Community Protection 

Notice or under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This 

includes areas where there is recurrent defacement by litter of open land in the 

vicinity of commercial or retail premises. A breach of a Community Protection Notice 

may result in either a fixed penalty notice being issued or prosecution. Failure to 

comply with a Section 215 Notice is an offence and would be dealt with by means of 

a prosecution. 

If a person fails to comply with a Community Protection Notice then the authority also 

has the power to apply to court for seizure or forfeiture of items used in commission 

of the offence. 

There are a number of situations when the Council would consider that the issuing of 

a fixed penalty notice may not be appropriate and instead would seek to prosecute 

under the relevant legislation. This includes: 

• Large-scale depositing of waste items, which will normally be dealt with by 

means of prosecution for littering (Section 87 Environmental Protection Act 

1990), fly-tipping (Section 33 Environmental Protection Act) or failure to keep 

proper control of controlled waste (Section 34); 

• When the offence is committed by someone that has previously received a 

fixed penalty notice for the same offence; and 

• Where the offender is aggressive to the Enforcement Officer (or other staff 

member) and/or refuses to provide their name and address.  

Page 20



 

7 
 

Payment by Instalments 

A number of local authorities offer the option of payment by instalments in cases 

where the individual would find it difficult to pay the full amount of the fixed penalty 

within the required 14 day time period. According to DEFRA guidance on fixed 

penalty notices, such approaches can assist in improving payment rates. The 

Council has given permission to pay instalments on a case-by-case basis but has 

lacked a clear policy on this matter. 

It is suggested that the Council adopts a formal approach to payment by instalments, 

in the interests of fairness and consistency, with the aim of both assisting those 

whose circumstances would make it difficult for them to pay the full amount within 14 

days and also as a means of improving payment rates. 

Payment by instalments will be offered if requested by the alleged offender and 

provided that they can adequately demonstrate to the authority that one or more of 

the following criteria applies: 

 A fixed penalty notice has been issued to a young person (aged under 18); 

 The alleged offender is on benefits; and 

 There is a proven case of financial hardship. 

The law in relation to prosecuting summary offences in the magistrates’ court means 

that an authority has six months from the date of an offence within which to 

commence proceedings by laying information in the court. If it fails to do this within 

the six-month period, then prosecution, following non-payment of a fixed penalty 

notice, cannot be taken. It is, therefore, recommended that instalment payments be 

spread over a maximum of three months to retain the option of prosecuting for the 

offence if the alleged offender fails to pay all instalments. 

If the offender pays the initial instalment but then fails to pay one or more of the 

subsequent instalments then the local authority would normally seek to prosecute 

the individual for the original offence. 

The instalment amounts are set out in Appendix B. 

Page 21



 

8 
 

Young People 

The Councils recognise that all sections of society can be responsible for littering 

and that the age of criminal responsibility in England is 10. The Councils also 

recognise that littering can be a particular problem around schools and along routes 

to school premises. 

If the Councils intend to carry out targeted enforcement activity close to a school in 

response to reported problems, then they will endeavour to undertake an education 

initiative at the school prior to enforcement patrols taking place. The Councils, 

however, recognise that there may be occasions where an enforcement officer 

observes a young person aged 17 or under littering during the course of their normal 

duties and not as part of targeted action. 

The Councils think that it is important that officers respond to littering by young 

people and send out the message that littering is unacceptable and will not be 

tolerated. If the Council does not take action in such circumstances then it may be 

seen to be: i) giving out the wrong message and suggesting that the law does not 

apply to young people, and ii) not adequately responding to public concern about 

littering. Officers will, therefore, issue fixed penalty fines to anyone aged 11 or over 

(corresponding to secondary school age) who is found to commit an offence or 

prosecute as described above. 

The Councils will, however, in appropriate cases seek to provide an alternative to 

paying a fixed penalty for those aged 16 or under at the time of the offence. A fixed 

penalty notice will be initially issued but will be cancelled, and the Council would not 

take any further action in relation to the offence, if the offender attends and 

completes a one hour educational session arranged by the Council. Such sessions 

will normally be offered once a month on a week-day evening at one of the Councils’ 

main offices. Offenders will not be provided with a choice of sessions but would be 

expected to attend the next available session. If the offender does not attend the 

session then the fixed penalty notice will stand and the individual may face 

prosecution if the penalty is not paid within the specified timescales.  

 

  

Page 22



 

9 
 

Appendix A Fixed Penalty Notice Penalties 

Offence Legislation Penalty 

if paid within 

10 days 

Full  Maximum on 

conviction 

Abandoning a 

vehicle 

s 2(1)(a) / 2A Refuse 

Disposal Amenity Act 

1978 

£150 £200 £2,500 

Criminal 

Damage/flyposting 

S1 Criminal Damage 

Act 1971/ s131 / 132 

Highways Act 1990 / 

s224 Town and 

Country Planning Act 

1990 and s 43/ 44 Anti-

Social Behaviour Act 

2003 

£50 £75 £2,500 

Failure to comply 

with a Community 

Protection Notice 

S 48/52 Anti-Social 

Behaviour, Crime and 

Policing Act 2014 

£75 £100 £2,500 for an 

individual 

£20,000, in the 

case of a body 

Failure to comply 

with a Public Spaces 

Protection Order 

S 67/68 Anti-Social 

Behaviour, Crime and 

Policing Act 2014 

£75 £100 £1,000 

Unlawful repairs / 

sale of vehicle on 

roads 

s 3/4/6(1) Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 

£75 £100 £2,500 

Depositing litter s 87/88 Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 

£50 £75 £2,500 

Unauthorised 

distribution of free 

printed matter 

Schedule 3A £50 £75 £2,500 

Failure to produce 

authority (waste 

carrier’s licence) 

s 5/5B Control of 1989 

Pollution (Amendment) 

Act 1989 

£300 Amount 

fixed at 

£300 

£5,000 

Failure to furnish 

documentation 

S 34(5) / 34A 

Environmental 

£300 Amount 

fixed at 

£5,000 

Page 23



 

10 
 

(waste transfer 

notes) 

Protection Act 1990 

and regulation 35(6) 

Waste (England and 

Wales) Regulations 

2011 

£300 

Failure to remove 

dog faeces from land 

forthwith 

s 59 Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 

£60 £80 £1,000 

Not putting, and 

keeping, a dog on a 

lead when directed 

to do so by an 

authorised officer 

s 59 Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 

£60 £80 £1,000 

Permitting a dog to 

enter land from 

which dogs are 

excluded 

s 59 Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 

£60 £80 £1,000 

Not keeping a dog 

on a lead in a 

designated area 

s 59 Clean 

Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 

£60 £80 £1,000 

 

Page 24



 

11 
 

Appendix B: Payment by Instalments 

Offence Fine Monthly Instalments 

1st  2nd 3rd  

Unlawful repairs / sale 

of vehicles on roads  
£100 £40 £30 £30 

Abandoning a vehicle £200 £75 £75 £50 

Depositing litter  £75 £25 £25 £25 

Failure to comply with a 

street litter control 

notice  

£100 
 

Not applicable 

Failure to comply with a 

community protection 

notice 

£100 £40 £30 £30 

Failure to comply with a 

community protection 

notice 

£100 £40 £30 £30 

Unauthorised 

distribution of free 

printed matter 

£75 £25 £25 £25 

Criminal Damage and 

fly-posting 
£75 £25 £25 £25 

Failure to produce 

authority (waste 

carrier’s licence)  

£300 
 

Not applicable 

Failure to furnish 

documentation (waste 

transfer notes) 

£300 
 

Not applicable 

Failure to remove dog 

faeces from land 

forthwith 

£80 £30 £25 £25 

Not putting, and 

keeping, a dog on a 
£80 £30 £25 £25 

Page 25



 

12 
 

lead when directed to 

do so by an authorised 

officer 

Permitting a dog to 

enter land from which 

dogs are excluded 

£80 £30 £25 £25 

Not keeping a dog on a 

lead in a designated 

area 

£80 £30 £25 £25 

 

Page 26



  

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to the Executive 
 

12 October 2017 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Appendix 1: Glossop Creative Industries Assessment 
 
1. Reason for the Report:  
 

This report provides a brief summary of the Glossop Creative Industries 
Assessment Report produced for the Council by Tom Fleming Creative 
Consultancy. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Members receive and comment on the Glossop Creative 
Industries Assessment report. 

3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 In 2016 High Peak Borough Council commissioned Tom Fleming 
Creative Consultancy to assess the potential for the growth of the 
creative industry and cultural sector in Glossop. The work was 
supported by a small steering group drawn from local residents involved 
in creative businesses and cultural sector together with officers of the 
Council. 

 
3.2 The commissioned work aimed to assess this potential in more depth, 

provide more evidence to test the assumptions made in the Growth 
Strategy, identify specific opportunities and challenges, and produce a 
framework and outline plan for the Council and its partners to 
implement. 

 
3.3 The report produced by Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy proposes 

that the plan to be developed by the Creative Glossop Group be shaped 

TITLE: Glossop Creative Industries Assessment 

 
PORTFOLIO: Councillor Tony Kemp – Tourism, 

Regeneration and Licensing 
 
OFFICER: Mark Forrester - Democratic & Community 

Services Manager 
   

WARDS:   All Glossop Wards 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



  

by four themes: Creative Placemaking, Nurturing creative industries, 
Animation and buzz, Buildings and Spaces. 

 
3.4 To see a Vision for Creative Glossop turned into a practical coordinated 

plan of action Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy  propose that High 
Peak Borough Council bring together partners from the public, private 
voluntary and community sectors with the aim of ensuring that future 
delivery of the vision is collaborative, coordinated and owned. The 
group is tentatively referred to as ‘Creative Glossop’ 

 
 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 Identifying and commencing a plan to regenerate Glossop Town Hall 
and public market is a priority action in the Corporate Plan and the 
report provides an evidence base to inform the development of the 
project and associated funding bids. 

 
4.3 The report provides evidence to test the assumptions made in the 

Growth Strategy (draft 2016) in relation to the potential for the growth of 
creative industry in Glossop. 

 
 
5. Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 That members comment on and support the broad direction of the 
proposals in the Glossop Creative Industries Assessment Report. 
(Recommended)  

 
5.2 That members do not support further action to refine, develop and 

implement the findings of the Glossop Creative Industries Assessment 
Report (Not recommended) 

 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
No specific implications 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
No specific implications. Council officers will continue to commit 
time to the development and implementation of a Glossop creative 
Industry plan. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There are no specific implications from the report. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

Page 28



  

 
No specific additional budget is proposed. Officers working with 
partners will seek to secure external funds when required any 
projects seeking Council funding would have to be considered on 
their merits in accordance with Council policy. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
No specific implications. The proposed partnership group will we 
be informal in nature and not entering into agreements in its own 
name. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
 
No implications from the report. 
 

6.7 
 
 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
No implications from the report. The partnership group would be 
expected to promote the vision for Glossop and engage the 
community, businesses and agencies in its work. 
 

6.8 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
The proposed Creative Glossop Group (partnership) would be 
expected to identify and address risks. The risks include: 
 

 The vision raises expectations for delivery which are not met 
or met within a ‘realistic’ time period. 

 

 The partnership becomes a talking shop rather than action 
focused. 

 

 There is not sufficient support from public, businesses and 
key agencies. 

 

 Funding from external agencies is not secured for key 
projects. 

 
 
7. Background and Detail 
 

7.1 In 2016 High Peak Borough Council commissioned Tom Fleming 
Creative Consultancy to assess the potential for the growth of the 
creative industry and cultural sector in Glossop. The work was 
supported by a small steering group drawn from local residents involved 
in creative businesses and cultural sector together with officers of the 
Council. 

 
7.2 The objective of the work was to assess: 
 

Page 29



  

1. What are the current strengths and future potential of existing 
cultural and creative industries in Glossop and its surrounding 
area? Including a snapshot of the current evidence base, current 
gaps and barriers to success, audiences and demand for culture 
locally, relationships to Manchester and Sheffield and the 
potential to attract businesses and individuals to locate in the 
area. 

 
2. What can we learn from comparable towns? How should 

Glossop compliment or compete with neighbouring areas 
including Greater Manchester? What would growth look like and 
what needs to be in-place to support it? 

 
3. What role could the key heritage buildings play? What role could 

historic buildings play in promoting the growth of cultural and 
creative businesses? What are the infrastructure needs of the 
sector? Could these buildings (and potentially other 
infrastructural developments) be repurposed to suit the culture 
and creative sector and how the current proposals might fit? 

 
 
7.3 The High Peak Growth Strategy (draft in 2016) identified potential for 

the growth of creative industry in Glossop to contribute to local 
economic development.  The commissioned work aimed to assess this 
potential in more depth, provide more evidence to test the assumptions 
made in the Growth Strategy, identify specific opportunities and 
challenges, and produce a framework and outline plan for the Council 
and its partners to implement. 

 
7.4 The team from Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy were able to draw 

on their knowledge of academic research and extensive personal 
experience of the creative sector nationally and internationally, analyse 
existing data, interview over thirty individuals and businesses, examine 
relevant comparators and conduct an online survey. The Steering 
Group provided views and insight based on their professional expertise 
and knowledge of local business and cultural activities. 

 
The Report 
 
7.5 The report provides a definition of the Creative Industries, the 

importance of this sector for the UK economy and its growth in 
neighbouring Manchester and Sheffield. Glossop’s proximity to 
neighbouring economic growth areas is identified as a significant 
opportunity and that the D2N2 and neighbouring LEPs provide a 
supportive policy context. The current strengths of Glossop in relation to 
creative industry and related cultural activity are highlighted together 
with a number of challenges to be addressed. 

 
7.6 In their introduction to the report Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy 

state their view that ‘Glossop … is blessed with some significant assets 
which, with the right combination of passion, commitment, astute 

Page 30



  

planning and positioning, could help the town to thrive again. Glossop 
can become a leading small town for cultural activity and creative 
business. It can utilise connectivity to Manchester, its good quality of 
life, industrial and civic heritage, and growing creative talent base, to 
give renewed vigour and vibrancy where other small towns are 
struggling to find a purpose.’ 

 
The report states that: 
 
7.7 For Glossop to become a genuinely welcoming home for creatives, with 

the density of activity, profile and facilities that support a sustainable 
and resilient sector; then it will take an approach that combines 
committed partnership, imagination, vision, investment and focus. We 
see this as a ‘whole town approach’ underpinned by clear catalyst or 
anchor projects – notably the re-imagination of the Halls as creative 
hubs that combine a rich mix of production and consumption activities 
that champion independent business, quality and sustainability.  

 
7.8 This ‘whole town’ approach is needed to change and challenge internal 

and external perceptions. While activities can be phased in, evidence 
from other towns and places which have successfully attracted 
creatives and developed a sustainable and resilient sector is that 
amplifying existing strengths and engaging as wide a cross-section of 
businesses and the community is important. 

 
7.9 Tom Fleming propose a vision that by 2022 Glossop will: 
 

 Be recognised as a welcoming home for culture and creativity – a 
signature creative town for the Northern Powerhouse. 
 

 Be a hub for independent cultural organisations and creative 
businesses – including co-working space in heritage settings.  

 

 Have a year-round programme of arts activity across the town, 
connecting with young and the whole community, utilising existing 
spaces and new fit-for-purpose infrastructure developed in historic 
buildings.  

 

 Have a town centre thriving with a continual programme of cultural 
activity and seasonal events, connected to a thriving independent 
retail, food and drink sector. 

 

 Have a growing economy driven by an increasing number of start-
ups, business relocating to the area, freelancers and creative 
practitioners establishing and growing their businesses. 

 

 Be a place where young people enjoy a rich cultural education and 
multiple pathways into creative employment. 

 
7.10 The primary driver of this vision is economic growth through 

encouraging creative businesses and individuals to relocate in Glossop, 

Page 31



  

driving new business start-ups and helping existing businesses to thrive 
and grow. 

 
This can be delivered through: 

 

 Encouraging the development of creative workspace, including co-
working space. 
 

 Encouraging more business start-ups and enabling freelancers and 
creative practitioners to grow their businesses, by working closely 
with the LEP and programmes including the Digital Growth 
programme. 

 

 Develop a more comprehensive and deeper programme of 
community engagement with more opportunities for creative 
learning, mental and physical wellbeing, community development 
and the environment. 

 

 Unlocking the potential of heritage assets to contribute to economic 
growth through the creation of contemporary uses from the Town’s 
unique built heritage – this includes employment generating 
performance venues and managed spaces. 

 

 Driving more visitors to the town encouraging tourists through a new 
offer of events, festivals, quality food and drink. 

 

 Contribute to a healthy and sustainable high street and market offer 
of independent retail, food and drink through increasing footfall, day 
visits, business visits. 

 
7.10 An iterative approach which tests demand for creative space while 

building networks and a wrap-around offer is recommendation for 
achieving transformation. 

 
Creative Glossop Group 
 
7.11 To see a Vision for Creative Glossop turned into a practical coordinated 

plan of action Tom Fleming Creative Consultancy  propose that High 
Peak Borough Council bring together partners from the public, private 
voluntary and community sectors with the aim of ensuring that future 
delivery of the vision is collaborative, coordinated and owned. The 
purpose of the group which they tentatively called ‘Creative Glossop’: 

 

 Develop the growth strategy and this assessment into a delivery 
plan that connects with the major developments underway or 
about to launch in Glossop, including the renovation of the Town 
Hall/Municipal Buildings/Market Hall and Victoria Hall.  
 

 To lead on the delivery of this plan and ensure it connects with 
other work in placemaking, tourism and regeneration through 
High Peak Borough Council and the LEP. 

Page 32



  

 

 Advocate for creative placemaking approaches across the town 
and encourage people and groups more widely to appreciate the 
potential of heritage and culture to contribute to economic 
growth. 

 

 To advocate and champion the town as a creative home for 
businesses more widely. 

 

 To act as a group which can leverage in additional funding where 
required to support creative and cultural activity 

 
 
7.12 The report proposes that the plan to be developed by the Creative 

Glossop Group be shaped by the following four themes. 
 
7.12.1 Theme One:  Creative Placemaking – maximising Glossop’s 

distinctiveness 
 

 A Creative Glossop Group established to formulate a set of 
priority actions to support creative activity across the town. 

 

 The Group will work with local retailers, the market and 
businesses to better coordinate and animate a calendar of 
seasonal markets and events. 

 

 Coordinated approach to marketing and communications for 
events and festivals 

 

 Develop a digital strategy for the town which can be used for 
marketing events, promoting the town as a creative home for 
businesses, attracting visitors and more. 

 
7.12.2 Theme Two: Nurturing creative industries – attracting businesses, 

creating jobs and boosting start-ups 
 

 Develop co-working space, through partners in appropriate 
buildings and through the Creative Glossop Group, take a 
coordinated approach to marketing through networks. 
 

 Together with D2N2 and the Digital Business Advisor for 
Glossop, develop a plan for encouraging start-ups and 
accelerating growth for local creative businesses. 

 

 Work with local schools and businesses to promote creative 
entrepreneurship through young enterprise, apprenticeships, 
work experience, competitions, cultural activity. 

 

Page 33



  

 Develop a network of creative businesses in Glossop which 
connects to networks in Manchester and Sheffield and 
elsewhere including Tech Nation. 

 
7.12.3 Theme Three: Animation and buzz – Bringing Glossop to life 

throughout the year 
 

 The Creative Glossop group will support and encourage greater 
cultural provision in schools and communities, working with key 
partners including Glossopdale Community College, The Mighty 
Creatives (creative education ‘Bridge organisation’), and Dark 
Peak Music Trust to develop more pathways and routes to 
participation in arts and culture and potentially creative 
employment. 
 

 Work with partners including the town’s existing festivals and 
Derbyshire Library Service to develop new programmes of 
activity in creative learning, wellbeing, community development 
and the physical environment of Glossop. 

 

 Coordinate and share data relating to audiences and events to 
grow the overall market for culture in the town. 

 

 Work with arts partners from outside Glossop, to develop new 
relationships and encourage even more visiting productions and 
collaborations. 

 

 Develop shared approaches to marketing, communication and 
data sharing on audiences. 

 
7.12.4 Theme 4: Buildings and Spaces - Making the most of Glossop’s 

Heritage assets 
 

 Galvanise partners to maximise the potential of securing 
investment in Glossop’s build Heritage projects, including the 
Town Hall, Market Hall, Municipal Buildings and Victoria Hall. 
 

 Develop an ‘open approach’ to Heritage which encourages 
businesses and local people to come forward with economic and 
social uses for historic buildings and assets. 

 

 Coordinate and encourage collaboration between partners 
involved in the regeneration of historic buildings to share 
information and develop joined-up approaches to community 
engagement and involvement. 

 

 Undertake feasibility and visioning exercise based on 
international best practice – e.g. for the imaginative re-use of 
markets as contemporary spaces for culture, creativity and 
wellbeing 

 

Page 34



  

The way forward 
 
7.13 The Council could encourage and support the transition of the current 

project steering group into the ‘Creative Glossop Group’ envisaged in 
the report. 

 
7.14 There are people with significant expertise already engaged in Glossop 

Halls and Victoria Hall projects as well as the work on the creative 
industry report. Leadership of the Creative Glossop Group could be 
drawn from this group of people with the Council in a supporting role. 

 
7.15 Council officers from Regeneration and Democratic and Community 

Services could continue to support the group and link to the council’s 
regeneration activity. 

 
7.16 It is not envisaged that the Creative Glossop Group should over 

formalise itself  (committee style) – it should be action focused, helping 
to coordinate the activities of various partners, focus on what local 
organisations can do themselves and draw in more local support behind 
the direction of travel establish by the report (and subsequent plan to be 
developed). 

 
7.17 No specific funding is proposed – the focus is on harnessing currently 

available resources and seeking additional funding and investment from 
external sources for specific projects as they develop.  

 
 

 
Dai Larner 

Executive Director (Place) 
 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

   
 
 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to the Executive 
 

12 October 2017 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendices Attached - None 

 
 

1. Reason for the Report 
 
 The Council adopted its Child Protection Policy in 2006 and subsequently 

updated the policy to incorporate adults at risk of abuse and neglect in 2014 in 
response to the introduction of the Care Act 2014.  A revised policy was 
agreed by members in 2016.  This is the annual update to members on the 
Council’s action to meet its safeguarding duties. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Executive notes the actions taken by the Council in response 

to its safeguarding duties. 
 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 The Council is committed to ensuring the safety and protection of 
people using its services. 

 
3.2 Legislation and statutory guidance make it necessary for the Council to 

ensure that it has policies and procedures in place to ensure that 
children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect are safeguarded when 
using services provided by or on behalf of the Council. 
 

TITLE: Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of 
Abuse and Neglect 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Emily Thrane - Executive Councillor for 

Finance & Corporate Services 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Executive Director (People) and Monitoring 

Officer 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  All 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



3.3 The Council approved a Child Protection Policy in 2006 and 
subsequently updated the policy to incorporate adults at risk of abuse 
and neglect in 2014. The introduction of the Care Act in May 2014 
necessitated some changes and a revised policy was agreed by the 
Council in 2016. 

 
3.4 The Council has established an officer group, chaired by the Executive 

Director (People) to co-ordinate the Council’s response to safeguarding.  
 

3.5 Recent actions include: providing safeguarding training for staff 
members; reviewing procurement and contract management 
procedures; introducing a new staff safety system; and on-going 
training of licensed taxi drivers. The Council has also supported the 
work of the High Peak Community Safety Partnership to safeguard the 
local community. 

 
3.6 The Council was asked by Derbyshire Safeguarding Children Board to 

complete a safeguarding audit (under s11 of the Children Act 2004) and 
judged itself to have met each of the standards. 

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The Council is committed to providing quality services.  
 
 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 None. 
 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1  Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The Council’s policy assists the Council to ensure the safety of 
children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
The Council’s policy requires all staff with direct or indirect access to 
children or adults at risk of abuse or neglect to be vetted, checked and 
provided with an appropriate level of training. There is a requirement 
that every member of staff has an awareness of the Council’s policy. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There are no specific implications. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 

Page 38



The policy commits the Council to ensure appropriate training for staff 
and members. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The policy assists the Council to fulfil its statutory duties with respect 
to the protection of children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
 
No specific implications. 
 

6.7 
 
 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
No specific implications. 
 

6.8 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
Implementation of the policy will assist the Council to manage risks in 
relation to the impact of its services and activities on individual 
children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect. 

 
 
7.        Background and Detail 
 

7.1 The Council approved a Child Protection Policy in 2006 and 
subsequently updated the policy to incorporate adults at risk of abuse 
and neglect in 2014. The introduction of the Care Act in May 2014 
necessitated some changes and a revised policy was agreed by the 
Council in 2016. 

 
7.2 The Council’s officer group, chaired by the Executive Director (People), 

continues to meet on a quarterly basis to co-ordinate the Council’s 
response to safeguarding.  

 
Activity since the last annual report 
 
7.3 The Council was asked by Derbyshire Safeguarding Children Board to 

complete a safeguarding audit (under s11of the Children Act 2004) to 
help make sure that the Council’s functions are discharged having 
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

 
7.4 The audit required the Council to self-assess its performance against 

five standards and, as documented in the following table, the Council 
judged itself to have met all of the standards. The Council, however, 
identified two areas of improvement in relation to safer recruitment 
(below). 

 
Standard Judgement Recommendations 

1 Accountability Green (Standard  

Page 39



Structure met) 

2 Listening to 
Children/YP 

Green (Standard 
met) 

 

3 Information 
Sharing 

Green (Standard 
met) 

 

4 Safe Recruitment Amber (Met with 
recommendations) 

The Council identified two 
areas of improvement: 

 HR Officers to undergo 
safer recruitment training; 

 review and revise policies 
as required after training. 

5 Staff 
Training/Training 

Green (Standard 
met) 

 

 
7.5 One of the Council’s HR Business Partners has now completed Level 4 

Safer Recruitment Training, thus addressing the recommendation to 
emerge from the self-assessment, and the next step is to revise the 
Council’s recruitment procedure to incorporate recommendations and 
good practice from the training.    

 
7.6 Further Level 1 safeguarding training for frontline staff has been 

arranged for September 2017. Once this has been completed, all 
relevant frontline staff members will have been trained (including any 
new starters). On-line training has also been facilitated for eight 
contractors. 

 
7.7 The Council has introduced a new system for flagging customers who 

may pose a potential risk to the psychological, mental, physical or 
emotional wellbeing of employees or agents of the Council. This system 
is designed to both safeguard employees and to assist the Council to 
meet its general duties for staff safety under the Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974. The Council has also developed a policy outlining the 
steps that will be taken to support domestic abuse victims at work, 
which it intends to bring forward for approval in autumn 2017. 

 
7.8 The Council has carried out a review of its procurement and contract 

management processes to ensure that adequate safeguarding checks 
are included. All new procurement activities require contractors and 
their employees to agree to the conditions of the Council’s safeguarding 
policy and this includes ensuring that relevant checks have been made 
of any contractor’s staff involved in undertaking regulated activities. In 
addition, reviews of all existing or historic arrangements that fall within 
or outside of formal contractual arrangements are being undertaken to 
ensure that all contractors or subcontractors employed by the Council 
have agreed to the conditions as set out within the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy and that their employees have had the appropriate 
checks undertaken. Where contractors or subcontractors fail to abide by 

Page 40



our policy and its requirements, the Council will cease use of their 
services.  

 
7.9 The revised Hackney Carriage and Private Licensing Policy was 

adopted by the Borough Council in November 2016. In accordance with 
the policy, any safeguarding issues relating to taxi drivers will be fully 
investigated and where appropriate the driver will be suspended and 
referred to the Licensing Sub Committee. The Council has continued its 
programme of providing safeguarding training for taxi drivers operating 
in the Borough and 85% have now been trained. Further training will be 
provided for the remaining drivers in the coming months.  

 
7.10 One of the priorities of the High Peak Community Safety Partnership 

has been support for vulnerable people. Work to support this priority 
has included: 

 

 Commissioning Crossroads to deliver two sessions of the 
Freedom Programme. The Freedom Programme looks at the 
attitudes and actions of abusive men and the responses of victims 
and survivors. The aim is to help victims make sense and 
understand what has happened to them and how to safeguard 
themselves in future relationships. 
 

 Commissioning the My Place outreach scheme in Buxton. The 
outreach team have made several safeguarding referrals in 
relation to vulnerable people encountered during the course of 
their outreach work. 

 

 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer 

 
 
Background Papers Location Contact details 

 
David Smith x4165 

  

 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to the Executive 
 

12th October 2017 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A – Growth Strategy for High Peak 
 
Appendix B – Invest in High Peak Prospectus 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2265/Invest-in-High-Peak-
Prospectus/pdf/Final_invest_in_High_Peak_P11_2.pdf 
 
Appendix C- High Peak’s Economy and Business Profile 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2267/Profile-of-High-Peaks-economy--
business-base/pdf/High_Peak_economic___business_profile_2017.pdf 
 
Appendix D- Invest in Buxton Retail Prospectus 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2313/Invest-in-Buxton-Retail-
Prospectus-Final/pdf/V6_5July_Proof.pdf 

 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to present the revised Growth Strategy to the 

Executive, following consultation and approval from the Economy and Growth 
Select Committee. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 To note the revised version of the Strategy and approve the document for 
publication by being made available online. 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Executive approved the Draft Growth Strategy in January 2016 for the 

purpose of public consultation exercise. The public consultation was carried 
out between 9th August and 26th September. 

TITLE: Growth Strategy for High Peak 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Tony Kemp – Executive Councillor 
    for Tourism, Regeneration and Licensing 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Pranali Parikh – Regeneration Manager  
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Not Applicable 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2265/Invest-in-High-Peak-Prospectus/pdf/Final_invest_in_High_Peak_P11_2.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2265/Invest-in-High-Peak-Prospectus/pdf/Final_invest_in_High_Peak_P11_2.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2267/Profile-of-High-Peaks-economy--business-base/pdf/High_Peak_economic___business_profile_2017.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2267/Profile-of-High-Peaks-economy--business-base/pdf/High_Peak_economic___business_profile_2017.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2313/Invest-in-Buxton-Retail-Prospectus-Final/pdf/V6_5July_Proof.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2313/Invest-in-Buxton-Retail-Prospectus-Final/pdf/V6_5July_Proof.pdf


  

 
3.2 In September 2016, the Executive approved the approach and the following 

two delivery plans for implementation of the Growth Strategy: 
- Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme 
- Implementing Enterprise Growth Programme 

 
3.3 In July 2017, the strategy and its delivery mechanism were discussed by the 

Economy and Growth Select Committee who agreed to the recommendation 
for the Executive to approve the Strategy. 

 
3.4 The Strategy has been informed by the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities, 

existing evidence base reports and current initiatives being carried out by the 
Council and its partners. 

 
3.5 The Growth Strategy for High Peak sets out the implementation plan for the 

adopted Local Plan for delivering sustainable growth and identifies 
development opportunities in the Borough for the next 15 years. It 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment to the delivery of allocated sites in the 
Local Plan and maximising the community benefits of that delivery.  

 
3.6 The Growth Strategy puts forward four key priorities: 
 - Reinforcing identity 

- Enhancing visitor experience 
 - Growing enterprise culture 
 - Delivering quality housing 
 
3.7 Following consultation, the focus of resources has been on delivering the 

actions approved by the Executive to deliver the above mentioned priorities.  
  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 The Growth Strategy has the potential to help deliver all four aims of the 

Corporate Plan:  

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live 
and work 

 Meet financial challenges & provide value for money 

 Support economic development & regeneration 

 Protect and improve the environment 
   

 
5. Options and Analysis 
 
5.1 Approve the Growth Strategy: The Growth Strategy has been conceived as 

the implementation plan for the Local Plan that was adopted in April 2016. 
Having an implementation plan in place will help in demonstrating the 
Council’s commitment to delivering the Local Plan and maintaining a 5 year 
supply. The strategy also helps maximising the benefits of Growth by providing 
a clear plan to achieving them. Recommended 

 

Page 44



  

5.2 Do not approve the Growth Strategy: This is not considered the preferred 
option because the growth strategy helps to align the actions and resources to 
achieve a shared vision of delivering the Local Plan. Not having a delivery 
mechanism in the form of the Growth Strategy in place could be a risk to the  
five year housing supply and losing out on the community benefits in the form 
of Community Infrastructure Levy, Council tax, New Homes Bonus and 
Business rates. The other key purpose of the strategy is to demonstrate 
strategic positioning of the economic strength of the region. This is anticipated 
to provide confidence and certainty of strategic fit of all projects to prospective 
investor and funders. Not having the strategy in place will reduce the region’s 
chances of attracting investment. Not recommended 
 

 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
No implications 
 

6.2 Workforce 
Delivering the Growth Strategy is a wider programme of a multitude 
of projects that involve all teams within the Council. 
 
The regeneration team provides project management and co-
ordination support with help from appropriate consultants to bridge 
the skill gap and accelerate delivery. All projects requires a multi-
disciplinary approach, co-ordinating expertise from various teams 
including: 

o Regeneration 
o Assets 
o Development 
o Environmental Health 
o Finance 
o Legal 
o Communication 

 
To enable the staff to make the shift from ‘plan making’ to ‘plan 
delivery’ additional training is provided for the teams in the area of 
project management, design review and understanding 
development appraisals. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
No implications at this stage. All projects are subject to individual 
EIA where relevant. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
In addition to the Regeneration Service budget, £70,000 has been 
allocated for the Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme. As 
projects develop, financial and strategic business cases will be 
prepared where appropriate for future funding needs. Discussions 
are ongoing with partner organisations for potential funding 
opportunities to delivery key priority projects. 

Page 45



  

 
6.5 Legal 

Legal advice will be sought at every relevant stage of each project. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
The Local Plan and the Growth Strategy for High Peak are 
prepared with wider sustainability considerations. 
 

6.7 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
A public consultation exercise was carried out last year for the 
Draft Growth Strategy. All relevant internal teams are consulted on 
individual projects. External stakeholders and delivery partners are 
consulted on a project by project basis at each relevant stage of 
the project. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
Separate risk assessments are produced as part of the delivery of 
each project in accordance with the Council’s risk assessment 
procedures. 
 

 
 
 

Dai Larner 
Executive Director of Place 

 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

Draft Growth 
Strategy- 
consultation version 
March 2016 
 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/
423/Read-the-High-Peak-Growth-
Strategy/pdf/Revised_Growth_Strat
egy_HP-_Mar_2016.pdf 
 

Pranali Parikh 
Regeneration Manager 
Pranali.parikh@highpea
k.gov.uk 
Tel: 07583055366. 

 
 

 

Page 46

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/423/Read-the-High-Peak-Growth-Strategy/pdf/Revised_Growth_Strategy_HP-_Mar_2016.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/423/Read-the-High-Peak-Growth-Strategy/pdf/Revised_Growth_Strategy_HP-_Mar_2016.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/423/Read-the-High-Peak-Growth-Strategy/pdf/Revised_Growth_Strategy_HP-_Mar_2016.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/423/Read-the-High-Peak-Growth-Strategy/pdf/Revised_Growth_Strategy_HP-_Mar_2016.pdf
mailto:Pranali.parikh@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:Pranali.parikh@highpeak.gov.uk


Growth 
Strategy 
for High 
Peak
October 2017

P
age 47



P
age 48



01
The Strategy
Introduction  08

Local and Regional Context  09

Challenges and Opportunities  14

Vision and Ambition  16

Delivery Mechanism  20

Governance Structure  22

Growth Partnership  23

02
DEVELOPMENT SITES 
Introduction  08

Buxton Town Centre  27

Glossop Town Centre  28

A6 Enterprise Corridor  29

Transport Connections  30

CONTENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION
The following documents are available at 

www.highpeak.gov.uk/growth-strategy

• Invest in High Peak Prospectus

• Profile of High Peak’s Economy  
and Business Base

• Invest in Buxton Brochure

• Buxton Design and Place Making Strategy

Growth Strategy for High Peak 03

P
age 49



P
age 50



Growth Strategy for High Peak 05

Manchester
City Region Sheffield

City Region

Leeds
City Region

Cheshire East

HS2
rail link HS2

rail link

Cheshire West

Staffordshire 
Moorlands

Crewe
Leek

M1

M6

A6

A53

A537

A50

A628

Macclesfield

Barnsley

Doncaster

Northwich

Warrington

Derby

Nottingham

D2N2   LEP Area

Stoke - 
on-Trent

High Peak

Glossop

New Mills

Chapel-en-le-Frith

Buxton

Growth Strategy for High Peak

HIGH PEAK

P
age 51



P
age 52



01
The StrategyP

age 53



This plan sets out:
• A strategy outlining the vision, growth areas, priority projects and governance structure involving public  

and private sector partners. 
• A delivery plan including identifying funding opportunities, key timescales and delivery lead. 
• A high quality prospectus and webpage for the audience of investors, funders, and developers. 

The purpose of the Growth Strategy is:
• Strategic positioning with neighbours and partners
• Creating the environment for growth and investment through demonstration of commitment (Open for Business)
• Accelerating delivery by working with partners and generating market confidence

The Growth Strategy for High Peak sets out a plan 
for sustainable growth and identifies development 
opportunities in the Borough for the next 15 years. 
It demonstrates the Council’s commitment to 
regeneration as well as to the delivery of the  
Local Plan. 

It also projects the successful partnership approach 
the Council is taking to building the future of 
Derbyshire. It has been informed by the Council’s 
Corporate Plan priorities, existing evidence base 
reports and current initiatives being carried out by 
the Council and its partners.

The Growth Strategy puts forward four key 
ambitions to deliver an aspirational yet realistic 
vision for planned growth in the Borough, a vision 
that respects the high quality and valued natural 
environment. 

The Strategy is supported by a delivery mechanism 
that will drive growth in entrepreneurial activities, 
facilitate housing delivery and enhance the visitor 
economy, resulting in a reinforced identity of the 
High Peak. 

Cllr Tony Kemp, 
Executive Lead for Regeneration

01
introduction

08 Growth Strategy for High Peak

P
age 54



Peak District National Park

Glossop Town Centre

Corporate Plan:
The Council’s Corporate Plan supports Economic Development and Regeneration to achieve increased economic growth 
and sustainable towns and rural communities.

Planning Policy:
The new High Peak Local Plan was adopted in April 2016. The plan proposes to support jobs growth through the 
provision of 350 homes per year up to the year 2031. The market towns of Buxton, Glossop, Chapel-en-le-Frith, New Mills 
and Whaley Bridge are the focal point for the majority of new homes and the provision of land for new businesses and 
industry. The Local Plan makes provision for an additional 35.6ha employment land by 2031. The housing delivery rate has 
improved in the borough since 2011, there are 3549 dwellings to be delivered on sites with planning approval.

Transport:
High Peak lies within close proximity to Greater Manchester, Cheshire and Sheffield. The A6 connects Buxton and the 
Central Area to Cheshire and Greater Manchester to the north west and Matlock and Derby to the south. In the north 
of High Peak the A57 and A628 connect Glossopdale to Greater Manchester and South Yorkshire. Three passenger 
railway lines also serve the towns and villages in the Borough with the Buxton, Glossop and Hope Valley lines providing 
direct services to Greater Manchester as well as to Sheffield. The Mottram Bypass and Glossop Spur are included in the 
Government’s new Road Investment Strategy and will provide Glossop with an enhanced connection to the M67 and 
wider motorway network. Although not in High Peak, the Manchester Airport Relief Road will provide the Borough with 
better road links to the Airport and M56 via the A6. An extensive network of trails provide excellent leisure opportunities 
for walking, cycling and horse riding. Local topography however does constrain transport connectivity. 

Heritage:
Outside the National Park, there are approximately 500 listed buildings, 32 conservation areas, 3 registered parks and a 
vast number of designated heritage assets related to above and below ground archaeology.  These all combine to protect 
the distinctive character of High Peak in which picturesque towns and villages are set against a dominant weathered 
gritstone landscape in the north or the softer limestone landscape in the south.  These towns include Buxton with its 
Georgian and Victorian spa heritage, the former mill towns of Glossop and New Mills; Whaley Bridge, where the Cromford 
and High Peak Railway transferred it’s goods on to Peak Forest Canal; and Chapel en le Frith, the Capital of the Peak.  
A key challenge is investment in protection and enhancement of these assets.

01
local context

Growth Strategy for High Peak 09

P
age 55



Employment: 
• Claimant unemployment rate is very low at 1% (December 2016). 
• Youth unemployment has fallen significantly over the last three years.
• High Peak is dependent on the public sector for employment but manufacturing, retail, leisure 

& tourism and bio-pharma are the key employment sectors.

Skills: 
• Proportion of the working age resident population qualified to degree level and above in High 

Peak is very high by national standards, with 43.5% of all residents qualified to this level. 
• Less than 8% of residents have no qualifications. 
• Over 17,000 of resident work force out-commute from High Peak, mainly to Greater Manchester 

and Cheshire.
• Passenger number from High Peak train stations to Manchester have gone up by 300% in the 

last ten years.

Enterprise:
• The proportion of people in knowledge-driven sectors has increased from 11.8% to 14.4% 

between 1998 and 2015.
• High Peak now has the highest number of knowledge based workers in Derbyshire,  

after Derby City.
• The 24 month business survival rate 77%, 4% above the national average.

Innovation:
• In top 10% of districts in the UK for the number of patents awarded (2000 – 2013).
• Home to award winning bio tech businesses- such as Retrogenix and Peakdale Molecular.

Manufacturing 24% of workforce
• Growth Potential – Linked to supply chain growth 
• Key constraint – Availability of sites + skills

Bio-Pharma 
Professional, scientific & technical 5% of workforce
• Growth potential – Currently exporting these skills; link to Medi Park, 

Universities and AstraZeneca
• Key constraints – Quality of accommodation (business clustering)

Aggregates 
Mining & quarrying 2% of workforce
• Growth potential – Unique resource specific to High Peak geology,  

link to national infrastructure projects. 
• Key constraints – Development within national park areas + access to 

skills 

Creative Industries 
Arts, entertainment & recreation 5% of workforce
• Growth potential – Linked to Media City, Manchester. 
• Key constraint – Availability of suitable office accommodation with high 

speed digital connectivity

Leisure & Tourism 
Accommodation and food 7% of workforce
• Growth potential – Link to Peak Park, Buxton Crescent and rise in 

cycling + outdoor leisure activities. 
• Key constraints – Quality of accommodation, diversity of offer and  

skill gap

01
Key employment sectors: 
(ONS 2016)

01
Economic Profile

10 Growth Strategy for High Peak

P
age 56



High Peak sits in the middle of two key HS2 corridors connecting Birmingham and Sheffield through East Midlands 
(Toton) and Birmingham to Manchester through Crewe. East-West connections between these two key north-south 
routes through High Peak will be the key to maximising the economic benefits. 

The Trans-Pennine Tunnel study has been commissioned to examine options for a new route between Sheffield and 
Manchester through the Peak District Nation al Park and High Peak as part of the emerging Transport Strategy for the 
North.

Atlantic Gateway is a cluster of ports in Liverpool and Manchester City Regions and the surrounding areas of Cheshire 
and Warrington with a potential for some 250,000 new jobs to be created in the area involving £14 billion of new 
investment. This will be a key outlet for the goods produced by the ‘Midlands Engine’.

Manchester airport hub station for HS2 and Manchester Enterprise Zone is expected to double the output from 
£20m and £40m by 2030, providing 45,000 jobs with a £1bn investment plan. The Airport City is conceived as a high-
quality business destination, an advanced manufacturing district and a location for hotels and other support services for 
Manchester Airport.

Cheshire Science Park and Manchester MediPark will act as centres of excellence and lead innovation in Science and 
Technology through global health and biotech brands and high growth SMEs. The commercial developments will be 
directly linked to internationally recognised higher education and research institutions in South Manchester. The  
bio-pharma cluster of businesses in the Central Area of High Peak are closely linked with this sector.

Media city is a £550m development in Salford that has generated over 4000 jobs in the media sector. The digital and 
creative sector in Glossop is closely linked to this growth.

The emergence of the ‘Northern Powerhouse’ 
and ‘Midlands Engine’ as key drivers in the 
Government’s regional policy, linking key cities in the 
north and the Midlands to create a single economy 
that can help rebalance growth based on increased 
productivity. 

The deals involving Greater Manchester and 
Sheffield City Region have been announced recently, 
aligned with the Government’s Localism agenda 
that sees the devolution of resources and decision 
making to groupings of local authorities. 

The new Housing and Planning Act and the Housing 
White Paper are driving housing delivery, utilising 
changes to the planning system and changing the 
definition of affordable housing whilst the newly 
emerging Industrial Strategy is supporting the 
economy and reducing barriers to development. 

A6 Enterprise Corridor and the High Peak  
is the crucial link that connects the:
• East Midlands and the Atlantic Gateway
• East Midlands and Manchester airport
• Greater Manchester urban area and Peak District 

National Park
• High skilled employment sectors in the Central 

Area of High Peak and the Airport City as well  
as MediPark and Cheshire Science Park

• Media City and creative sectors in Glossop. 

01
National Context:

01
regional Context:

Growth Strategy for High Peak 11

P
age 57



12 Growth Strategy for High Peak

High Peak
Sheffield

Kirklees
Rochdale

BuryBolton

Salford

Oldham

Stockport

Tameside

TraffordWarrington

Manchester

Macclesfield

Amber
Valley

Derby

Housing Market
Parts of High Peak share strong housing 
market relationships with neighbouring authorities:
Tameside
Stockport
Cheshire East
Derbyshire Dales
Sheffield

High Peak has a net outflow of nearly 

9700 workers 
mainly to Manchester

Travel by car
Glossop to Manchester - 37 mins

Buxton to Manchester - 1 hr 5 mins
Chapel-en-le-Frith to Manchester - 53 mins

Chapel-en-le-Frith to Sheffield - 53 mins
Glossop to Sheffield - 45 mins
Buxton to Sheffield - 55 mins

Airport link
Glossop to 

Manchester Airport - 35 mins

30% of High Peak 
residents 
work in Greater Manchester 
demonstrating the importance of 
Greater Manchester as a supply of job opportunities.

159.7km of 
cycle paths

and bridle ways
in the High Peak

Travel by train
Glossop to Manchester - 32 mins

half-hourly daytime service to Manchester Piccadilly 
and every 20 minutes during rush-hour.

Buxton to Manchester - 56 mins
hourly service daily and about 
half-hourly during rush-hour.

Chapel to Manchester - 46 mins
hourly service daily and about 
half-hourly during rush-hour.

Chesterfield

Staffordshire
Moorlands

Derbyshire
Dales

North East
Derbyshire

Health
High Peak is served by two 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG):
Tameside & Glossop
North Derbyshire
Secondary care hospital services are shared with:
Tameside and Stockport
Macclesfield (to a lesser extent)

Shared Economy
High Peak’s greatest commuting 
relationships are with:
Manchester 
Stockport

P
age 58



Growth Strategy for High Peak 13

High Peak
Sheffield

Kirklees
Rochdale

BuryBolton

Salford

Oldham

Stockport

Tameside

TraffordWarrington

Manchester

Macclesfield

Amber
Valley

Derby

Housing Market
Parts of High Peak share strong housing 
market relationships with neighbouring authorities:
Tameside
Stockport
Cheshire East
Derbyshire Dales
Sheffield

High Peak has a net outflow of nearly 

9700 workers 
mainly to Manchester

Travel by car
Glossop to Manchester - 37 mins

Buxton to Manchester - 1 hr 5 mins
Chapel-en-le-Frith to Manchester - 53 mins

Chapel-en-le-Frith to Sheffield - 53 mins
Glossop to Sheffield - 45 mins
Buxton to Sheffield - 55 mins

Airport link
Glossop to 

Manchester Airport - 35 mins

30% of High Peak 
residents 
work in Greater Manchester 
demonstrating the importance of 
Greater Manchester as a supply of job opportunities.

159.7km of 
cycle paths

and bridle ways
in the High Peak

Travel by train
Glossop to Manchester - 32 mins

half-hourly daytime service to Manchester Piccadilly 
and every 20 minutes during rush-hour.

Buxton to Manchester - 56 mins
hourly service daily and about 
half-hourly during rush-hour.

Chapel to Manchester - 46 mins
hourly service daily and about 
half-hourly during rush-hour.

Chesterfield

Staffordshire
Moorlands

Derbyshire
Dales

North East
Derbyshire

Health
High Peak is served by two 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG):
Tameside & Glossop
North Derbyshire
Secondary care hospital services are shared with:
Tameside and Stockport
Macclesfield (to a lesser extent)

Shared Economy
High Peak’s greatest commuting 
relationships are with:
Manchester 
Stockport

01
Growth ambitions of neighbouring Authorities
Greater Manchester CA
A devolved and pooled transport budget,  
of c£100 million per annum in capital

A new £300 million Housing Investment Fund to 
provide up to 15,000 additional new homes.

A Earnback deal worth £900 million over 30 years 
to accelerate Metrolink Extension

Franchised bus services across a network with an 
annual turnover estimated at £265 million

A mainstream business support fund-  
£7 Million pa

Influence over a further £310 million of skills fund 
and £100 million of employment funding

A transformation fund of c£300 million to pump 
prime early investment in community based care

Cheshire and Warrington LEP
3,125 additional homes by 2018

12,473 additional jobs by 2018

Development of the Atlantic Gateway area 
generating £14 billion of new investment by 2030

Development of Cheshire Science Corridor 
contributing significantly to national innovation in 
science.

Creation of a £40m Investment Fund to support 
growth in life science SME’s

Maximising the benefits of investments in HS2 
super hub at Crewe, central to the country’s major 
infrastructure network

Sheffield City Region CA
£900 million additional cash boost over the 
next thirty years to deliver major regeneration, 
infrastructure and business growth schemes

Exports worth £1 trillion by 2020

Invest £83.5 million in the Growth Hub

33,000 new jobs

£780 million of private sector investment

2150 new exporters and 6000 new businesses,  
by 2024

Up to 10,000 new homes over a five year period

P
age 59



14 Growth Strategy for High Peak

• Delivery of Local Plan housing and  
employment sites

• Unimplemented development sites 
• Maintaining the five year housing supply
• Lack of affordable and special needs homes
• Available land for development (employment 

and housing)
• Rural environment and its accessibility to 

infrastructure
• Vacant and under-used heritage assets
• Poor town centre retail (availability of right size of 

premises, absence of high end operators,  
lack of diversity)

• High disparity in income levels
• Low productivity and gross value added
• Poor public transport and connectivity,  

weather dependency
• Low level of start-ups and growth of small 

businesses
• Shortage of quality hotel accommodation
• Lack of evening economy in main towns
• Reduction in local authority funding and 

borrowing capacity
• Long-term unemployment is persistent
• Ageing population

01
Challenges we 
face today:

P
age 60



Opportunities
• Strategic links and shared interests- Greater Manchester, Sheffield City Region, Cheshire and Warrington LEP and 

Northern Powerhouse
• Opportunity to benefit from the growth and funding available- LEP, ERDF
• Economy is moving, market is changing in a positive way, significant investment interest in the area
• Government’s focus on housing delivery and increasing productivity
• Local Plan is complete
• The Council has approved delivery mechanisms for housing and enterprise growth
• The time is now to position ourselves to maximise the benefits

Strengths
• Key link between Greater Manchester and Sheffield City Region
• Connectivity to Manchester, Cheshire, Sheffield and Derby
• Peak Park, natural assets
• Distinctive built heritage
• Well established leisure offer (to be reinforced by the Crescent)
• High Peak- the incubator for high-growth businesses 
• Advanced manufacturing, aggregates and logistics businesses
• Creative businesses in Glossop (Manchester media city connection)
• Low level of crime 
• Desirable area to live, work and visit
• High output level for manufacturing businesses- double national average

Growth Strategy for High Peak 15

P
age 61



Aim: 
To grow the economy and use growth to support Council services

Approach: 
By driving growth in productivity and capturing community value 

Key objectives are:
• To position High Peak as a suitable investment proposition to investors, funders and strategic partners
• To demonstrate the council’s aspiration and aptitude for planned and sustained growth that respects the high quality 

natural environment
• To co-ordinate the council’s activities to accelerate development and growth in various sectors
• To outline a joined up approach to meet the challenges the region faces
• To reinforce and enhance the High Peak’s distinct identity and build upon the strengths and opportunities

01
vision:

16 Growth Strategy for High Peak

Reinforcing the distinctive High Peak identity by 
sustained and planned growth in jobs, housing, 
footfall, tourism and spend in the economy, making 
High Peak a better ‘place’ in which to work, live, 
play and travel.

P
age 62



The Growth Strategy will aim to achieve the following by 2031:
• 35.6ha employment land developed
• 6500 homes delivered
• 1950 affordable homes delivered (30% of total target)
• £588m private sector investment in land and house building (for 6500 homes)
• 910 new jobs created and existing jobs retained
• £59m pa additional spend in local economy 
• 30% increase in investment in infrastructure provision 
• Halved wage gap between commuters and residents (Gap in 2014- £5217)
• Increased number of new business start-ups to match the regional average level (Current business birth rate 11.2%; 

Derbyshire average of 11.9; East midlands rate of 13.7)
• Maintained retail vacancy rate below the national average (HPBC town centre vacancy rate 7.1 %; England rate 11.3%; 

Autumn 2016)
• Doubled number of overnight visitor stays during the week

01
ambition:

Growth Strategy for High Peak 17

The Growth Strategy to drive £700m investment in 
the High Peak economy

P
age 63



Buxton Crescent

Advanced manufacturing business in Furness Vale

Trails in Peak District National Park

Affordable housing in Chapel-en-le-Frith

Reinforcing Identity 
(Distinctly High Peak)

• Strategic link between Greater Manchester, 
Cheshire East, Midlands CA and Sheffield City 
Region

• Peak Park and distinct heritage
• Innovative businesses
• Effective local and sub-regional partnerships
• Thriving market towns

Enhancing Visitor Experience
(Outdoor play/festival venue)

• Enhancing leisure and culture offer
• Niche retail and evening economy
• Pedestrian and cycle connections
• Promoting festivals and events
• Quality hotel accommodation and tourism 

experience

Growing Enterprise Culture
(Incubator for Innovation)

• Supporting and nurturing start-ups and growth  
of businesses

• Developing employment sites 
• Nurturing existing employment sectors and 

business growth
• Provision of infrastructure- access, transport, 

finance and skills
• ‘Open for business’ approach

Delivering Quality Housing 
(Attractive place to live)

• Improving the ‘quality of life’ offer
• Providing affordable housing
• Meeting specialist housing need
• Encouraging private sector delivery
• Investing in community infrastructure: roads, 

schools, open spaces

01
Key growth Priorities:

18 Growth Strategy for High Peak

P
age 64



Our approach: Accelerated Delivery in High Peak for  
Quality Housing Provision and Enterprise Growth
• Prepare detailed delivery mechanisms and action plans to drive forward the delivery of key growth priorities
• Utilise Council’s assets, resources and experience of delivering projects to achieve the key outcomes of the Growth 

Strategy.
• Consider the use of relevant national, regional and European as well as private sector funding to maximise the benefits 

of Council’s investments and efforts.
• Create good partnership culture to support the visioning and delivery of key projects with shared resources, 

responsibilities and risks.
• Continue a programme of capital projects and carry out the necessary preparatory work to increase the deliverability of 

projects and support external funding bids.
• Prepare an investment prospectus and strategy for attracting inward investment and delivering priority sites.
• Set up robust governance structure in form of the Transformation Board for steering and monitoring the delivery of the 

Action Plan projects. The board to be responsible for ensuring realistic and achievable delivery plans are in place for 
agreed priority projects.

• For full details of the housing and enterprise growth delivery mechanisms visit www.highpeak.gov.uk/Growth-Strategy

01
Implementation
In order to implement the priorities, the Council 
has adopted delivery mechanisms for accelerated 
delivery of two key themes; 

• Quality Housing Provision
• Enterprise Growth

Growth Strategy for High Peak 19

P
age 65



Building on the strengths of existing growth sectors in High Peak, it is proposed to focus on reinforcing the growth  
sectors by preparing: 

1. Buxton cultural destination plan
• Prepare and implement a plan to promote and enhance the leisure, culture and tourism offer in Buxton

2. Glossop creative industry assessment
• Prepare a study to assess the growth potential for creative industries in Glossop (including media, digital, performing 

arts and other businesses) and prepare a plan to address the sector needs

3. A6 growth corridor sites
• Prepare and implement plans for development of key employment sites along A6 corridor such as Chapel Business Park 

and Bingswood Industrial Estate in Whaley Bridge

4. Sector specific business support
• Prepare Economic Impact Assessments for quarrying and aggregates, hi-tech knowledge based and advanced 

manufacturing businesses

5. Partnership working to provide specialist business advice
• Work with targeted business support providers to support specific business needs

01
Delivery mechanism: 
Enterprise Growth

20 Growth Strategy for High Peak

The Focus:

Buxton
England’s leading spa town
• Leisure, culture and visitor economy

A6 growth corridor (Chapel-en-le-Frith, 
Hayfield, New Mills and Whaley Bridge)
High growth enterprise corridor
• Advanced manufacturing , bio-pharma, 

aggregates and logistics

Glossop
Culture of creative enterprise
• Digital, media, music, arts

P
age 66



Growth Strategy for High Peak 21

To accelerate the delivery of housing sites, it is proposed for the Council to take a proactive lead through the following 
mechanism of planning, finance, inward investment and property development:

1. Open for business approach 
• Streamlined process and enhanced service delivery
• Key account management through development team approach
• Raise the quality of developments to make it attractive for the market

2. Delivery of unimplemented sites 
• Engage with developers with planning approvals to understand barriers to development
• Set up a development portal on the council’s website to promote sites with planning approvals along with incentives 

and funding options
• Adopt an enhanced ‘place marketing’ approach to promote sites with planning approvals to targeted developers and 

investors

3. Maximising the benefit of Council resources  
• Implement the Council’s ‘Right To Buy’ grants scheme to deliver affordable homes
• Prepare a CIL strategy to maximise the Council’s resources
• Use Council’s borrowing powers to support key investment priorities

4. High Peak housing portfolio 
• Create a portfolio of sites in Council’s ownership with residential allocations in the Local Plan and cross-subsidise the 

development of them
• Explore the potential to reinvest the receipts/ profits in strategic acquisitions for future revenue benefits
• Work with partners to share market experience, skills, risks and resources

01
Delivery mechanism: 
Quality Housing 
Provision
The Focus:

Delivering the Local Plan
• Shift from plan-making to plan-delivery
• Meeting local housing need
• Meeting affordable housing need
• Maintaining the 5 year supply
 
Maximising community benefits
• Achieving better value for money in return of 

long term strategic investment
• Bringing forward the income - council tax, 

business rates and New Homes Bonus
• Realising the uplift in land value
• Using Council’s resources as a leverage to attract 

inward investment

P
age 67



22 Growth Strategy for High Peak

(In accordance with the Alliance
project management methodology)

In
p

ut
/ 

in
flu

en
ce

 fr
o

m
 e

xt
er

na
l p

ar
tn

er
s

01
Governance 
Structure Executive

Alliance Management Team

Transformation Board

Growth Projects Steering Group
Project Exec/ SRO: Director of Place

Core Group: Regeneration Manager,
Finance and Procurement Manager, 

Legal Service Manager, Development Services Manager, 
Assets Manager

Projects Managers of individual projects/ sub 
programmes to be invited to report to the group

D2N2 LEP/
CA

Growth 
Partnership

Derbyshire 
County 
Council

Site 
owners/

 developers/ 
funders

Project teams
(multidisciplinary teams 
led by assigned project 

managers)

Project teams
(multidisciplinary teams 
led by assigned project 

managers)

P
age 68



Growth Strategy for High Peak 23

Key partners supporting the vision and delivery of key project include, but are not limited to;
• Derbyshire County Council- Transport, Education, Economic Development and Regeneration
• Greater Manchester + Transport for Greater Manchester 
• D2N2 LEP
• Chamber of Commerce
• Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish Council, Whaley Bridge Town Council, New Mills Town Council
• Buxton Crescent & Thermal Spa Heritage Trust
• Buxton Town Team + Vision Buxton + Buxton Festival + Buxton Civic Association + Buxton Opera House
• Business representatives
• Peak District National Park 
• Marketing Peak District
• University of Derby- Buxton & Leek College
• Chamber of Commerce
• Business Peak District
• D2N2 Growth Hub
• Homes and Communities Agency, Registered Providers, House Builders
• Site owners + developers
• High Peak Access Group 
• Civic society, other active community organisations
• Design review and enabling panels
• Historic England
• Environment Agency
• Cycling group

01
Growth  
Partnership:

P
age 69



P
age 70



02
DEVELOPMENT 
SITES 

P
age 71



The Growth Projects in town centres are grouped together in four plans:
• Buxton Town Centre
• Glossop Town Centre
• A6 Enterprise Corridor
• Transport connections

The plans identify sites to deliver sustainable growth in the areas of:
• Development sites
• Heritage regeneration opportunities 
• Local Plan allocations
• Connectivity

For further information regarding development sites and local plan allocations, visit  
www.highpeak.gov.uk/Growth-Strategy

02
development sites

26 Growth Strategy for High Peak

P
age 72



Growth Strategy for High Peak 27

02
Development sites: 
Buxton 
town centre

A6
  to

 St
oc

kpo
rt

Tra
in 

to 
Ma

nc
he

ste
r

A6

 A515 to Ashbourne

A53 to Leek / Macclesfield

A6 to Bakewell

b

1

2

c

Key regeneration 
projects

1. Buxton Crescent
2. Buxton Station Gateway

3. Town Centre enhancement

Heritage 
regeneration 
opportunities

a. Buxton Town Hall
b. The Palace Hotel
c. Pavilion Gardens

Listed
buildings

Town 
Centre 
Boundary

Public 
realm
areas

ac

3
Key regeneration projects
1. Buxton Crescent

2. Buxton Station Gateway

3. Town Centre enhancement

Heritage regeneration 
opportunities
a. Buxton Town Hall

b. The Palace Hotel

c. Pavilion Gardens

Improve connectivity:
• Station to town centre retail and leisure 

destinations

• Market Place to town centre to the Park 

• Station to Opera House and Pavillion Gardens

• Town centre to residential areas

• Use of green infrastructure to improve connectivity.

P
age 73



28 Growth Strategy for High Peak

02
Development sites: 
glossop 
town centre
Key regeneration projects
1. Managed workspace units (site to be identified)

2. Wren’s Nest site

3. Charleston Works

4. Ferro Alloys

Heritage regeneration 
opportunity
a. Glossop Market Hall

b. Woods Mill

c. Victoria Hall

Connectivity:
• Mottram bypass and Glossop spur

• Glossop Brook Trail through town centre 
connecting to Trans Pennine Trail

• Town centre enhancement + public realm 
improvements on A57

• Improve pedestrian and cycle connectivity in  
town centres. 

2

A

A

A A

C

B

4

3

c

D

ba

Trai
n to Mancheste

r

A57 to Sheffield

Tr
ain

 to
 H

ad
fie

ld

Train to 

Connectivity:
Glossop Brook Trail through town centre 
connecting to Trans Pennine Trail
Town centre enhancement + public 
realm improvements on A57

Heritage 
regeneration 
opportunities
a. Glossop Market Hall
b. Woods Mill
c. Victoria Hall

Glossop 
Town Centre

Key
regeneration
projects
1. Managed worskspace 
    units (site to be identified)
2. Wren’s Nest site
3. Charlestown Works
4. Ferro Alloys

B6
10

5 

A624 to Hayfield

A57 to Manchester

public realm 
enhancementP

age 74



Growth Strategy for High Peak 29

2

A

A

A A

C

B

4

3

c

D

ba

Trai
n to Mancheste

r

A57 to Sheffield

Tr
ain

 to
 H

ad
fie

ld

Train to 

Connectivity:
Glossop Brook Trail through town centre 
connecting to Trans Pennine Trail
Town centre enhancement + public 
realm improvements on A57

Heritage 
regeneration 
opportunities
a. Glossop Market Hall
b. Woods Mill
c. Victoria Hall

Glossop 
Town Centre

Key
regeneration
projects
1. Managed worskspace 
    units (site to be identified)
2. Wren’s Nest site
3. Charlestown Works
4. Ferro Alloys

B6
10

5 

A624 to Hayfield

A57 to Manchester

public realm 
enhancement

02
A6 Enterprise 
Corridor

Key regeneration projects
1. Chapel employment sites

2. Whaley Bridge employment sites

3. Town centre enhancements-  
Chapel, Chinley, New Mills, Whaley Bridge

4. Furness Vale sites + canal basin

5. Britannia Mill in Buxworth

Heritage regeneration 
opportunity
a. Whaley Bridge canal basin

b. Torr Vale Mill

Connectivity:
• Canal network link and cycle path  

(to Velodrome in Manchester)

• Peak Forest Tramway link  
(from Doveholes to Chapel en le Frith)

• Car parking provision (at New Mills Newtown 
station + Chapel en le Frith station)

• Improve pedestrian and cycle connectivity  
in town centres

Train to
Buxton

Train to

Shefield

A6 to Dove Holes 

Key 
regeneration
projects
1. Chapel-en-le-Frith 
 employment sites

2. Whaley Bridge 
 employment sites

3. Town centre enhancements - 
 Chapel-en-le-Frith, Chinley, 
 New Mills, Whaley Bridge

4. Furness Vale sites 
 + canal basin

5. Britannia Mill in Buxworth

Connectivity:
1. Canal network link and cycle path 

(to Velodrome in Manchester)

2. Peak Forest Tramway link 
(from Dove Holes to Chapel-en-le-Frith)

3. Car parking provision 
(at New Mills Newtown station 
+ Chapel-en-le-Frith station)

Chinley

Hayfield

Chapel-en-le-Frith

A6 to Stockport and Manchester

to Marple 

Heritage 
regeneration 
opportunities
a. Whaley Bridge canal basin
b. Torr Vale Mill

B

Housing 
allocations

A. New Mills sites
B. Chinley site

C. Chapel-en-le-Frith site

Train to

Manchester

Train to

Manchester

11

C

5

a

2

4

4

b

A

A

Whaley Bridge

Furness
Vale

New Mills

P
age 75



30 Growth Strategy for High Peak

02
transport links

High Peak

Staffordshire
Moorlands

Sheffield

Kirklees
Rochdale

BuryBolton

Salford

Oldham

Tameside

Trafford

Derbyshire
Dales

Macclesfield

North East
Derbyshire

Amber
Valley

Derby

Atlantic
Gateway

M56
Mancheste

r S
hip Canal

M62
G

Warrington

HS2
rail link

HS2
rail link

M1

M1

M6

M6

A6

A628

A616M67

Crewe
Superhub

Glossop

Buxton

Manchester

Stockport

Chesterfield

Rail lines

Rail lines (Proposed)

Gamesley Railway Station (Proposed)

White Peak Loop

White Peak Loop (Proposed)

Roads

A6 to Manchester Airport Relief Road

Transpennine Tunnel (Proposed)

Mottram Bypass and Glossop Spur Road 
(Proposed)

Key transport projects
(as identified in the adopted High Peak Local Plan)

P
age 76



P
age 77



To find out more speak to:
Regeneration Team at High Peak Borough Council

www.highpeak.gov.uk/Growth-Strategy

Regeneration@highpeak.gov.uk

P
age 78



 
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Report to Executive 
 

12th October 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Appendices Attached   
Appendix A – Updated Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of the updated and new 

business rate reliefs that have been recently announced by central 
government, and to approve the Council’s local discretionary business rate 
relief policy.    

 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That Executive:- 

 

 Note the implications of the business rates revaluation on the local 
businesses in High Peak, including the new reliefs that have been 
implemented by central government; and 

 Approve the principles and criteria for the local discretionary rate relief 
scheme taking into account comments from Corporate Select (subject to 
consultation with preceptors).  

3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 Business rates (or non-domestic rates) are collected from businesses who 

occupy property in order to contribute towards the cost of local services 
provided.  Each non-domestic property has a rateable value which is set by 

TITLE: Business Rates Revaluation and Local 

Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme  

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Emily Thrane – Executive Councillor for 

Finance & Resources  

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Procurement 

Manager  

 Joanne Wheeldon – Principal Income Officer 

 

WARDS INVOLVED:   Non-specific 

  

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) - this broadly represents the yearly rent 
the property could have been let for on the open market on a particular date. 
 

3.2 The VOA generally reassesses all rateable values for business premises in 
England and Wales every five years, although the last revaluation was in 
2010.  A revaluation was undertaken in preparation for the revised list to be 
effective from 1st April 2017. 
 

3.3 The Government believes it is important to provide the greatest support to 
small and medium businesses seeing increases and to also allow those small 
and medium businesses seeing reductions to gain quickly from the 
revaluation.  Therefore, as part of the 2016 and 2017 Budget/Autumn 
Statement, the Government announced a number of amendments to current 
reliefs and the introduction of new reliefs from 1st April 2017 to support 
businesses:- 
 

 Transitional Relief - for those businesses that have seen significant 
increases in their rates liability, the Government has put in place a £3.6 
billion transitional relief scheme to limit and phase in changes in rate bills 
as a result of the 2017 revaluation (which was also put into place after the 
2010 revaluation) 
 

 Rural Rate Relief – rural rate relief has doubled to 100% from 50% for 
those businesses located in a rural settlement (population less than 
3,000) for shops/post offices with a rateable value up to £8,500 and public 
houses/petrol stations with a rateable value up to £12,500        

    

 Small Business Rate Relief – 100% relief is now available to business 
who occupy properties with a rateable value of £12,000 or less (previously 
£6,000) with a tapered relief on properties worth up to £15,000 

 

 Local Newspaper Rate Relief – funding has been provided to provide a 
discount of up to £1,500 a year for two years for office space occupied by 
local newspapers 

 

 Supporting Small Business Relief – a new relief available to those 
ratepayers facing large increases as a result of a loss of Small Business 
Rate Relief (SBRR) or Rural Rate Relief (RRR).  In the first year of the 
scheme this means that all ratepayers losing some or all of their SBRR or 
RRR will see the increase in their bill capped at £600. 

 

 Supporting Pubs Relief – a relief to be awarded to pubs that have a 
rateable value of below £100,000.  Under the scheme, eligible pubs will 
receive a £1,000 discount on their bill for 2017/18.   

 

 Local Discretionary Rate Relief - the Government announced that they 
would allocate a £300m pot to Authorities in order to award a discretionary 
relief to other businesses affected by the 2017 revaluation – the scheme 
would be in place for a period of four years at a reducing rate over the four 
years.  It is for each individual Authority to design their own scheme. 

 

Page 80



3.4 The Council’s Business Rates Relief Policy has been updated to reflect the 
changes above and details the Council’s Local Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy (see Appendix A) 
 

3.5 Corporate Select considered and commented on the principles for the design 
of the Council’s Local Discretionary Rate Relief policy. As a result the 
proposed policy is aimed at supporting local small and medium sized 
businesses with rateable values under 200,000 who have had an increase in 
their business rates bill as a result of the revaluation.  
 

3.6 The policy sets out the amount of relief to be awarded in each of the four 
years of the scheme.  The levels of relief will be reviewed regularly to ensure 
that the support scheme is being operated in the most effective way.  
 

3.7 In exceptional circumstances, the Council shall consider applications on a 
case by case basis where the ratepayer falls outside the criteria but where the 
ratepayer can demonstrate that they are experiencing severe financial 
difficulties due to the revaluation on 1st April 2017.   

 
3.6 The Council is currenlty consulting with the major preceptors in relation to the 

Local Discretioanry Rate Relief scheme and will take their comments into 
account.  Therefore, the eligibility criteria is subject to the preceptors 
repsonses. 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The application of Business Rates relief supports the aim of the Council to 
promote business growth and economic regeneration in the Borough and 
wider economic area 

5. Options and Analysis 
 
5.1 Option 1 – Not Recommended 

Do not approve the Local Discretionary Rate Relief Policy and updated 
Business Rate Relief Policy  

 
5.2 Option 2 – Recommended 
 Approve the Local Discretionary Rate Relief Policy and updated Business 

Rate Relief Policy (subject to consultation) 
 

6. Implications 
 
6.1  Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
There are no specific community safety concerns 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
There are no specific workforce implications.  
 

Page 81



6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Diversity and 
Equality Policy 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
Financial considerations are considered within the report. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
None. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
 
There are no specific sustainability issues 
 

6.7 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
External consultation in respect of the Council’s Local Discretionary Rate Relief policy 
is being undertaken with the Council’s Preceptors (County Council, Police and Fire 
Authority) 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The granting of discretionary relief will, in the main, potentially involve a cost to 
the Council.  Any amount granted will be borne in accordance with the 
Business Rate Retention Scheme share (40% by the District Council) unless 
reimbursed by Government via Section 31 grant. 
 
In respect of the Local Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme, there is a financial 
risk that the Council could apply more in Local Discretionary Rate Relief than 
funding allocated by Government – resulting in an overall cost to the Authority.  
However, the risk is mitigated by the way in which the policy has been 
established – which is based on an allocation as detailed in the policy to those 
businesses the Council has listed as eligible, with a proportion of the pot 
remaining for any other applications that are submitted for consideration.    
 

  
ANDREW P STOKES 

Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer 
 

 Background Papers Location Contact details 

 Moorlands House Claire Hazeldene                   

Finance & Procurement 

Manager                                  

01538 395400 Ext. 4191 

Joanne Wheeldon             

Principal income Officer          

01538 395400 ext 4070                                   

 

Page 82



7. Introduction 
 

7.1 Business rates (or non-domestic rates) are collected from businesses who 
occupy property in order to contribute towards the cost of local services 
provided.  Under the business rates retention arrangements introduced from 
1st April 2013, authorities keep a proportion of the business rates paid locally. 
This provides a direct financial incentive for authorities to work with local 
businesses to create a favourable local environment for growth since 
authorities will benefit from growth in business rates revenues.  

 
7.2 Other than properties that are exempt from Business Rates, each non-

domestic property has a rateable value which is set by the Valuation Office 
Agency (VOA), an agency of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. They 
draw up and maintain a full list of all rateable values - this broadly represents 
the yearly rent the property could have been let for on the open market on a 
particular date. 
 

7.3 The VOA generally reassesses all rateable values for business premises in 
England and Wales every five years, although the last revaluation was in 
2010.  The local authority works out the business rates bill by multiplying the 
rateable value of the property by the appropriate multiplier. 
 

7.4 Revaluations make sure each ratepayer pays their fair contribution and no 
more, by ensuring that the share of the national rates bill paid by any one 
ratepayer reflects changes over time in the value of their property relative to 
others.  Revaluation does not raise extra money for Government. 
 

7.5 The VOA uses a wide range of property information, rental and other 
evidence to compare values across similar types of properties in order to set 
the rateable value. A revaluation was undertaken in preparation for the 
revised list to be effective from 1st April 2017. 
 

7.6 High Peak has seen an overall increase in the rateable values of businesses 
within the District of 14%, increasing from 61,088,403 in 2016/17 to 
69,834,156 in 2017/18. 
 

7.7 However, as the ‘multipliers’ used to calculate business rates bills have 
reduced from 2016/17 to 2017/18, the gross business rates collectable has 
increased less significantly at 4%, from £28,406,779 in 2016/17 to 
£29,572,952 in 2017/18. 
 

7.8 The Government believes it is important to provide the greatest support to 
small/medium businesses seeing increases and to also allow those 
small/medium businesses seeing reductions to gain quickly from the 
revaluation.   
 

7.9 Therefore, as part of the 2016 and 2017 Budget/Autumn Statement, the 
Government announced a number of amendments to current reliefs and the 
introduction of new reliefs from 1st April 2017 to support businesses. 
 

Page 83



8. Transitional Relief 
 

8.1 For those businesses that have seen significant increases in their rates 
liability, the Government has put in place a £3.6 billion transitional relief 
scheme to limit and phase in changes in rate bills as a result of the 2017 
revaluation.  
 

8.2 Transitional relief limits how much business rate bills can change each year 
as a result of revaluation - consequently, changes to bills are phased in 
gradually. 
 

9. 2016 Budget & Autumn Statement Changes  
 

9.1 The Government had already announced as part of the 2016 Budget and 
Autumn Statement a number of changes to existing reliefs and the 
introduction of new reliefs - those relevant to the Borough are detailed below. 

 
9.2 When applying for business rate relief, businesses need to ensure compliance 

with state aid rules in accordance with the De Minimis Regulations EC 
1407/2013.  The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up 
to €200,000 'de minimis' aid over a rolling three year period. 
 

 Rural Rate Relief (RRR) 
 
9.3 To remove the inconsistency between rural rate relief and small business rate 

relief the government doubled rural rate relief to 100% from 1 April 2017 as 
part of the 2016 autumn statement.  Businesses may be eligible for rural rate 
relief if the business is in a rural area with a population below £3,000.  If 
eligible, no rates will be payable if:- 
 

 the only village shop or post office, with a rateable value of up to £8,500 
 the only public house or petrol station, with a rateable value of up to 

£12,500 
 

9.4 The Government intends to amend the relevant primary legislation to require 
local authorities to grant 100% mandatory rural rate relief to take effect from 1 
April 2018. However, before the requirement to grant mandatory relief comes 
into force we expect local authorities to use their local discount powers to 
grant 100% rural rate relief to eligible ratepayers from 1 April 2017.  

 
Small Business Rate Relief (SBRR) 
 

9.5 As part of the 2016 Budget, Government confirmed that from April 2017, rate 
payers that occupy a single property with a rateable value of £12,000 or less 
pay no business rates.  Previously, the 100% relief was available for 
businesses that occupying a property with a value of £6,000 or less. 

 
9.6 There is then a tapered rate of SBRR relief on properties worth up to £15,000.  

 
 
 

Page 84



Local Newspaper Rate Relief (LNRR) 
 

9.7 The Government also committed to providing funding to local authorities so 
that they can provide a discount worth up to £1,500 a year for 2 years from 1st 
April 2017, to office space occupied by local newspapers. This is up to a 
maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and 
up to state aid limits.  
 

9.8 The relief will be delivered through local authority discretionary discount 
powers (under section 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988). 

 
10 2017 Budget Changes 

 
10.1 As part of the Spring 2017 Budget, the Chancellor announced three new 

discretionary rate reliefs to be implemented for business ratepayers with effect 
from 1st April 2017: 

 

 Supporting Small Business Relief (SSBR) 

 Supporting Pubs Relief (SPR) 

 Local Discretionary Rate Relief (LDRR) 
 

10.2 The three new reliefs have been implemented under Section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act as a discretionary award made by Billing Authorities. 
The Government will fully reimburse all amounts awarded under SSBR and 
SPR by a Section 31 grant.  However, LDRR is being funded through a 
£300m fund allocated to each Authority through a formula-based grant, and 
Government has tasked all Authorities with putting together their own 
schemes of LDRR. 

 
Supporting Small Business Relief (SSBR) 
 

10.3 This relief is a discretionary relief made available to those ratepayers facing 
large increases as a result of a loss of Small Business Rate Relief or Rural 
Rate Relief. 

 
10.4 The transitional relief scheme does not provide support in respect of changes 

in reliefs. Therefore, those ratepayers who are losing some or all of their small 
business or rural rate relief may be facing very large percentage increases in 
bills from 1 April 2017. 

 
10.5 Government announced that Authorities could award the relief under their 

Discretionary Rate Relief (DRR) powers and that it would also reimburse 
Billing Authorities and major precepting authorities (the County Council and 
Fire authorities) within the Business Rates Retention (BRR) system for the 
local share of the relief. The reimbursement would be provided through a 
grant made under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
 
 

Page 85



10.6 Government has also stated its intention to reimburse BAs and major 
precepting authorities for the actual cost of providing this relief and are 
undertaking a New Burdens assessment of the IT and administrative costs 
associated with this scheme. 

 
10.7 SSBR will be available from 2017/18 to 2021/2022 where the increase in the 

RV for these ratepayers is the greater of either: 
 

 a percentage increase per annum of 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 15%, or 

 a cash value of £600 per year. 
 
10.8 In the first year of the scheme this means that all ratepayers losing some or all 

of their SBRR or RRR will see the increase in their bill capped at £600. The 
cash minimum increase is £600 per year thereafter.  Those businesses who 
were previously receiving SBRR in 2016/2017 but whose RV is more than 
£51,000 from 1st April 2017 also come into the SSBR scheme. 

 
10.9 This relief, as with all other discretionary relief, is subject to State Aid law. 

Ratepayers entitled to Mandatory Relief (such Charities and Community 
Amateur Sports Clubs) or Section 44A relief (apportionment of RV for partly 
occupied properties) are not entitled to SSBR. However, ratepayers entitled to 
SSBR can still apply for other DRR once the SSB has been awarded. 

 
Supporting Pubs Relief (SPR) 

 
10.10 The Supporting Pubs Relief scheme is to be awarded to pubs that have a 

rateable value of below £100,000.  Under the scheme, eligible pubs will 
receive a £1,000 discount on their bill for 2017/18.  Authorities will be 
compensated for awarding the relief via their DRR schemes under a S31 
grant. 

 
10.11 Hereditaments which are excluded from this relief include restaurants, cafes, 

nightclubs, hotels, snack bars, guesthouses, boarding houses, sporting 
venues, music venues, festival sites, theatres, museums, exhibition halls, 
cinemas, concert halls, casinos. 

 
10.12 Eligible pubs can also qualify for SSBR (as above). Where qualification exists, 

SSBR must be awarded before other discretionary reliefs. 
 

Local Discretionary Rate Relief (LDRR) 
 
10.13 The Government also announced that they would allocate a £300m pot to 

Authorities in order to award a discretionary relief to other businesses affected 
by the 2017 revaluation – the scheme would be in place for a period of 4 
years at a reducing rate over the 4 years.  The Government has confirmed 
that High Peak B.C. will receive the following allocation of funding, under 
section 31 of the Local Government Act, for each year of the scheme:-   

 

Local Discretionary Rate Relief 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Government Funding £358,867 £174,307 £71,773 £10,253 

Page 86



 
10.14 Each Authority is required to develop their own discretionary scheme, 

ensuring that major precepting authorities are consulted before awards are 
made.   

 
10.15 Discussion on the proposed criteria took place at Corporate Select on 9th 

October 2017 where members commented as follows:-  
 

 A desire to support small/medium sized local businesses and so not 
applying the relief to national/multinational companies  

 As some of the other reliefs are temporary (for example pub relief) the 
inclusion of an option to review the criteria and allocation in subsequent 
years of the scheme within the Council Tax Setting Report/Budget. 

 As the funding is to be repaid to Government if not fully allocated, there 
was consensus that the Council attempt to apply as much support as 
possible to those eligible businesses  

 Members were also keen for the scheme to be publicised, so in addition to 
writing to those business the Council believes are eligible to encourage 
them to apply for the relief, also ensuring this is advertised on the website  

 
10.16 Therefore, the Council’s proposed  Local Discretionary Rate Relief scheme is 

detailed within the attached updated version of the Discretionary Business 
Rates Relief policy (see Appendix A)  In summary, relief will be awarded to 
businesses who satisfy the following criteria:- 

 

 The ratepayer is in occupation on 31st March 2017 and 1st April 2017; 

 There has been an increase in net business rates payable from 2016 to 
2017, arising as a direct result of the 2017 Revaluation; 

 The ratepayer’s account is not subject to Empty Property Rates (i.e. the 
property is occupied and not empty); 

 The ratepayer is not in receipt of mandatory relief 

 The rateable value of the property in the 2017 rating list must not exceed 
£200,000 

 Relief will be targeted to local businesses and not those businesses that 
are national or multi-national in nature. 

 Relief will not be awarded to Local Authorities or Government agencies 
(including NHS)  

 The relief is subject to state aim limits 
 
10.17 In addition to the criteria above, the Council, will in exceptional circumstances, 

consider applications on a case by case basis where ratepayers can 
demonstrate they are experiencing severe hardship due to the 2017 
revaluation. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



10.18 For each year of the scheme, the following percentage of relief is estimated to 
be applied as below: 

 

Financial Year Amount of relief* 

2017/18 Award = 35% of the increase in rate liability  

2018/19 2017/18 award x 50% (for clarity, this will be 
50% of the relief awarded in 2017/18) 

2019/20 2018/19 award x 40% (for clarity, this will be 
40% of the relief awarded in 2018/19) 

2021/21 2019/20 award x 14% (for clarity, this will be 
14% of the relief awarded in 2019/20) 

*As per discussion at Corporate Select, the levels of relief will be 
reviewed regularly in year to ensure that the support scheme is being 
operated in the most effective way.   

 
10.17 As with all reliefs, the amount of relief awarded under this proposed scheme 

will be recalculated where a change of circumstances occurs (such as, if the 
ratepayer vacates the property) to reflect the calculation of relief on a daily 
basis, as with the calculation of the ratepayer’s liability. 

 
10.18 The proposed scheme also allows the Council to review and amend the 

amount of relief during the course of the year to reflect changing 
circumstances. 

 

11. Consultation 
 
11.1 The Council is currenlty consulting with the major preceptors in relation to the 

Local Discretioanry Rate Relief scheme and will take their comments into 
account when determingin the eligibility criteria.  This is an essential part of 
the scheme and is in line with the grant determination issued by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG)   

 
 
11.2 The grant determination states that a condition of the fund is that consultation 

is undertaken with ‘relevant authorities’.  Relelvant Authorities for the purpose 
of this scheme means any major precepting Authority.   Therefore, the Council 
is consulting with Derbyshire County Council, Derbyshire Police & Crime 
Commissioner and Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service 

Page 88



Updates in blue text 

  

APPENDIX A 
 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

Business Rates Relief Policy 
(Updated October 2017) 

 
1 Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides for two broad forms of 

Relief to be made available to Business Ratepayers: 
 

 Mandatory Relief (under Sections 43 and 45) – this can be granted to 
occupied or unoccupied properties, which satisfy the necessary criteria. 
Once an organisation satisfies the relevant criteria, the Council has a 
statutory duty to apply the Relief; and 

 

 Discretionary Relief (under Sections 44, 47 and 49) – since the 1988 
Act was introduced councils have had the discretion to grant additional 
relief to certain occupiers of properties, which satisfy certain criteria. 
However, with effect from 2012/13, Clause 69 of the Localism Act 1988 
amended Section 47 to allow councils to reduce the Business Rates of any 
local Ratepayer.   

  
Discretionary Relief can be awarded in its own right or as an additional 
relief if Mandatory Relief is already being granted. When considering 
allowing Discretionary Relief a council must consider the benefit of a 
business to the local community having regard to the interests of Council 
Tax payers. 

 
1.2 The financial impact on the Council’s finances is different depending on 

whether Mandatory or Discretionary Relief is granted.  The granting of 
discretionary relief will, in the main, involve a cost to the Council equivalent to 
40% of the award – in line with the Business Rates Retention Scheme.  
However, some discretionary reliefs are reimbursed in full by Government 
through a ‘Section 31’ grant.   

 
1.3 Although the Localism Act has extended the Council’s ability to grant 

Discretionary Relief, it does so within strictly finite resources. The purpose of 
this Policy therefore is to provide guidance to Business Rate payers of the 
specific and limited circumstances in which Relief will be granted. 

 
2 Available Relief 
 
2.1 Relief is available to the following types of Business Rate payer:  
 

 Charities and other non-profit making organisations (section 3) 

 Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC) (section 4) 

 Businesses located in rural areas (section 5) 

 Small businesses (section 6) 

 Certain retail premises (section 7) 

 Empty properties (section 8) & Empty properties - new build (section 9) 

 Local Newspapers (from 1st April 2017 for period of 2 years) (section 10) 

Page 89



Updates in blue text 

  

 Businesses impacted by the 2017 revaluation (section 11) 
- Supporting Small Businesses Relief (from 1st April 2017 for a maximum 

period of 5 years) 

- Local Public House Relief (from 1st April 2017 for one year) 

- Discretionary Business Rates Relief Scheme (from 1st April 2017 for a 
maximum period of four years) 

 Reoccupation Relief (section 12) 

 Any other business in exceptional circumstances (under Clause 69 of the 
Localism Act 2011)  (section 13) 

 
2.2 Sections 3 to 12 deal with the qualifying conditions of each type of Relief in 

more detail.  
 

2.3 In very exceptional circumstances, Hardship Relief may be granted to any 
Business Rate payer – see section 14. 

 
3 Charities and Other Non Profit Making Organisations 
 
3.1 Relief is available to charitable and non-profit making organisations in certain 

circumstances. Relief varies dependant upon the type of organisation and the 
purpose for which the property is used. 
 

3.2 Mandatory Relief is awarded in the following circumstances: 
 

i) The Ratepayer of an occupied property is a charity or trustee for a 
charity and where the property is wholly or mainly used for charitable 
purposes. In such circumstances, Mandatory Relief of 80% will be 
awarded  (it may also be possible to qualify for up to 20% Discretionary 
Relief on such properties); and 

 

ii) The owner of an unoccupied property is a charity or trustee for a 
charity and it appears, when next in use, the property will be wholly or 
mainly used for charitable purposes. In such circumstances Mandatory 
Relief of 80% will be awarded against the 100% charge. In respect of 
unoccupied property, the apparent future use of the property must be 
satisfied. 

 
3.3 Discretionary Relief may be awarded where: 
 

i) Where the property is not an “excepted hereditament” (property) and all 
or part of it is occupied by one or more institution or organisation which 
are: 

 

 Not established or conducted for profit; and 
 

 Whose aims should be charitable or otherwise philanthropic, or 
concerned with the promotion of social welfare, education, science, 
literature or the fine arts. In such circumstances Discretionary Relief 
of up to 100% can be awarded.                                  

 

ii) Where the Rate payer is a charity or trustee for a charity and where the 
property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes. In such 
circumstances, Mandatory Relief of 80% will already have been 
awarded. Therefore Discretionary Relief of up to 20% can be awarded.      

Page 90



Updates in blue text 

  

 
3.4 The Council will determine each case on its own merits. The guidelines are:  
 

i) In respect of Charitable Properties:  
 

 Applications are required in writing and will be reviewed on a 
regular basis; and 

 Confirmation of charitable status is necessary. 
 

ii) In respect of Non-Profit Making Organisations, the following factors will 
be considered:  
  
 Is membership available to all of the community and is it actively 

promoted? 

 Are the facilities available to non-members? 

 Are the facilities ones that the Council is unable to provide and 
wishes to promote? 

 Have the facilities available been provided by self-help or grant aid? 

 Are the facilities competing with or ancillary to the facilities currently 
offered by the Council? (applications will not be refused on the 
grounds that an organisation is in competition with the Council if the 
broader needs of the community are being met)   

 Does the organisation provide training and education for its 
members, non-members, minority or special need groups? 

 Is membership drawn from local residents and taxpayers? 

 What are the financial circumstances of the organisation - do they 
raise finance to support their activities? 

 
4 Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) 
 
4.1 With effect from April 2002, many local amateur sports clubs were able to 

register with the Inland Revenue as Community Amateur Sports Clubs 
(CASCs) and benefit from a range of tax relief, including Gift Aid. The detail of 
the legislation is contained within Schedule 18 of the Finance Act 2002. 

 
4.2 Provided a club is registered with the Inland Revenue, they will automatically 

qualify for Mandatory Relief of 80%. 
 
4.3 The Council will grant a further 20% in Discretionary Relief in circumstances 

where the club provides additional benefits to the High Peak. (N.B.  This relief 
is only available to clubs currently in receipt of the benefit and will be 
withdrawn entirely with effect from 1 April 2015) 

 
4.4 The Council will determine each case on its own merits. The guidelines are:  
 

In order to qualify for Mandatory Relief:   
 

 Applications are required in writing and will be reviewed on a regular 
basis; and 

 Confirmation of CASC status is necessary. 
  
 

Page 91



Updates in blue text 

  

5 Rural Relief 
 
5.1 Relief from Business Rates is available for Public Houses, Petrol Filling 

Stations, General Stores, and Post Offices if they are the only business of its 
type within a Rural Settlement area (see Annex 1). Rural Relief may also be 
granted to qualifying rural food shops. Such Relief is applicable to occupied 
properties only.   
 

5.2 In order to qualify for Mandatory Relief the property will have to: 
 

 be in a Rural Settlement Area of 3,000 people or less; and 
 

 be a Post Office or General Store with a rateable value of £8,500 or 
less, and be the only such property within a settlement area; or 

 

 be a Public House or Petrol Filling Station with a rateable value of 
£12,500 or less, and be the only such property within a settlement 
area; or 

 

 be a Village Shop selling mainly food for human consumption with a 
Rateable Value of £8,500 or less. 
 

Mandatory Relief of 50% will be granted to such properties currently.  
However, the Government intends to amend the relevant primary legislation to 
require local authorities to grant 100% mandatory rural rate relief to take effect 
from 1 April 2018. 
 
Therefore, before the requirement to grant mandatory relief comes into force, 
Authorities are expected to use their local discount powers to grant 100% 
rural rate relief to eligible ratepayers from 1 April 2017.  

 
5.3 The Council may also provide Discretionary Relief in two ways:  
 

i) as a ‘top-up’ Relief, up to 100% for those Ratepayers receiving 50% 
Mandatory Relief; (as detailed above) or 

  

ii) up to 100% Relief to other rural shops and businesses, which are of 
benefit to the local community. 

 
5.4  Discretionary Relief is subject to different criteria, and can be granted to any 

General Store, Post Office, Public House, Petrol Filling Station or Village 
Shop selling mainly food for human consumption, which qualifies for 
Mandatory Relief.  In addition, Discretionary Relief can be granted to any 
other Shop, Post Office or business which:  

 

 is in a Rural Settlement Area of 3,000 people or less 
 

 has a Rateable Value of less than £16,500; and 
 

 is of benefit to the local community. 
 

The following additional condition is applied in the High Peak: 
 

 annual profits must be less than £15,000. 
 

Page 92



Updates in blue text 

  

5.5 For claiming Rural Relief the following conditions apply:  
 

 Applications must be in writing 
 

 If applying for the Discretionary element of Rural Relief, audited 
accounts for the last two years must be provided; and 

 

 Each application is considered on its own merits. 
 
6 Small Businesses 
 
6.1 Small Business Rate Relief is available at 100% for Business Ratepayers 

occupying single properties with a Rateable Value of up to £12,000 
(previously £6,000 prior to 1st April 2017), with Relief declining on percentage 
terms on a sliding scale until it is 0% at a rateable value of £15,000 (£12,000 
prior to 1st April 2017). 

 
6.2 The cost of the Relief granted is funded through a supplement on the 

Business Rates bills of those businesses not eligible for the Relief. The 
supplement is built into the standard “Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier”.  

 
6.3 Ratepayers of eligible business properties with Rateable Values between 

£15,000 and £51,000 (previously £12,000 and £18,000 prior to 1st April 2017) 
do not have to contribute towards the Relief and will have their bills calculated 
using the lower (small business) Non-Domestic Rating Multiplier. 

  
6.4 The Relief is only available to Rate payers with either:  
 

 One property; or 
 

 One main property and other additional properties with Rateable Values 
less than £2,899 (£2,600 prior to 1st April 2017). 

 
The Rateable Value of the one property or the aggregate Rateable Value of 
all properties must be under £20,000 (£18,000 prior to 1st April 2017). 

 
7 Retail Rate Relief Policy 
 
7.1 Under S47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the Council may use 

its discretionary powers to grant relief to businesses in its area. 
 
7.2 In line with Government’s recommendation this policy outlines the relief to be 

given in 2014/15 and 2015/16 to hereditaments that meet certain criteria as 
detailed in this document. 

 
7.3  Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments with 

a rateable value of £50,000 or less, that are wholly or mainly being used as 
shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments 

 
7.4  Within this guidance, shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments 

are considered to mean:- 
 

i. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting 
members of the public:- 

Page 93



Updates in blue text 

  

 

 Shops (such as Florist, Bakers, Butchers, Grocers, Greengrocers, 
Jewellers, Stationers, Off Licence, Chemists, Newsagents, 
Hardware Stores, Supermarkets) 

 Charity Shops 

 Opticians 

 Post Offices 

 Furnishing Shops/Display Rooms (such as carpet shops, double 
glazing, garage doors) 

 Car/Caravan Show Rooms 

 Second hand car lots 

 Markets 

 Petrol Stations 

 Garden Centres 

 Art Galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 
 

Ii Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public:- 

 

 Hair and beauty services (such as hair dressers, nail bars, beauty 
salons, tanning shops) 

 Shoe repairs/key cutting 

 Travel Agents 

 Ticket Offices e.g. for theatre 

 Dry Cleaners 

 Launderettes 

 PC/TV/Domestic Appliance repair 

 Funeral Directors 

 Photo Processing 

 DVD/Video Rentals 

 Tool Hire 

 Car Hire 
 

iii. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to 
visiting members of the public:- 

 

 Restaurants 

 Takeaways 

 Sandwich shops 

 Coffee shops 

 Pubs 

 Bars 
 
7.5 To qualify for the relief the hereditament must be wholly or mainly used as a 

shop, restaurant, cafe or drinking establishment. In a similar way to other 
reliefs (such as charity relief), this is a test on use rather than occupation. 
Therefore, hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used 
for the qualifying purpose will not qualify for the relief. 

 
 

Page 94



Updates in blue text 

  

7.6 The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be 
impossible to list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also be 
mixed uses. However, the above lists are intended to be a guide as to the 
types of uses that the Government considers for this purpose to be retail in 
nature. 

 
7.7 The list below sets out the types of uses that Government does not consider 

to be retail use for the purpose of this relief. Again, it is for Local Authorities to 
determine for themselves whether particular properties are broadly similar in 
nature to those below and, if so, to consider them not eligible for the relief 
under their local scheme. 

 
i. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 

services to visiting members of the public: 

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, 
bureau de change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers) 

 Other services (e.g. estate Agents, letting agents, employment 
agencies) 

 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, 
chiropractors) 

 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance 
agents/financial advisers, tutors) 

 Post Office sorting office 
 

Ii Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members 
of the public 

 
7.8 The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property for 

each of the years under this scheme is £1,000. The amount does not vary 
with rateable value and there is no taper. 

 
7.9 There is no relief available under this scheme for properties with a rateable 

value of more than £50,000. Of course, Councils may choose to use their 
discretionary powers to offer further discounts outside this scheme (and under 
local rate retention, 50% of the cost would be locally funded and 50% funded 
by Central Government). 

 
7.10 The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated 

on a daily basis. The following formula will be used to determine the amount 
of relief to be granted for a particular hereditament in the financial year: 

 
 Amount of relief to be granted = £1000 x A/B 
 

Where: 
A is the number of days in the financial year that the hereditament is eligible 
for relief; and B is the number of days in the financial year. 

 
7.11 The relief will be applied against the net bill after all other reliefs have been 

taken into account. 
 
 

Page 95



Updates in blue text 

  

7.12 Where the net rate liability for the day after all other reliefs but before retail 
relief is less than the retail relief, the maximum amount of this relief will be no 
more than the value of the net rate liability. This should be calculated ignoring 
any prior year adjustments in liabilities which fall to be liable on the day. 

 
7.13  There is no restriction on the number of properties occupied by a rate payer 

that will qualify for relief, provided each property has a rateable value of 
£50,000 or less, subject to State Aid de minimis limits. 

 
7.14  The relief should be applied on a day to day basis using the formula set out 

above. A new hereditament created as a result of a split merger during the 
financial year, or where there is a change of use, should be considered a 
fresh for the relief on that day 

 
8 Empty Property Relief 
 
8.1 Mandatory Relief will be granted in the first 3 months that a business property 

is empty. This is extended to 6 months in the case of certain industrial 
properties. 

 
8.2  After these periods have expired, Business Rates are payable in full unless 

the unoccupied property rate has been reduced by Government Order. In 
most cases, the unoccupied property rate is zero for properties owned by 
Charities and Community Amateur Sports Clubs. 

 
8.3 There are a number of exemptions from the Empty Property Rate as follows: 
 

 Where an owner is prohibited by law from occupying a business property 
or allowing a business property to be occupied 

 

 Where a business property is kept vacant by reason of action taken by or 
on behalf of the Crown or any local or public authority with a view to 
prohibiting occupation or to acquiring it 

 

 Where a business property is the subject of a building preservation notice, 
or is a listed building 

 

 Ancient monuments 
 

 Business properties with a Rateable Value less than £2,600 
 

 Where an owner is entitled to business property only in their capacity as 
the personal representative of a deceased person; and 

 

 In certain instances of insolvency and debt administration. 
 
8.4  Discretionary Relief (under Section 44a of the 1988 Act) can be awarded 

where a business property is temporarily partly occupied. Where such 
discretion is exercised, a valuation officer will apportion Rateable Value 
between the occupied and unoccupied parts of the property. 

 
 
 

Page 96



Updates in blue text 

  

9 New Build - Empty Property Relief 
 
9.1 Under S47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the Council can use its 

discretionary powers to grant relief to businesses in its area. 
 
9.2 In line with the Government’s recommendation this policy outlines the relief to 

be given to hereditaments that meet certain criteria as detailed in this 
document. 

 
9.3  Properties that will benefit from the relief will be all unoccupied non domestic 

hereditaments that are wholly or mainly comprised of qualifying new 
structures. “Structures” means: 

 
a) foundations and/or 
b) permanent walls and/or 
c) permanent roofs 
 
 “new” means: 
 
a) completed less than 18 months previously, and 
b) completed after 1 October 2013 and before 30 September 2016. 

 
9.4  New structures are to be considered “completed” when the building or part of 

the building of which they form part is ready for occupation for the purpose it 
was constructed unless a completion notice has been served in respect of 
such a building or part of a building – in which case it would be the date 
specified in that notice. 

 
9.5  In terms of considering whether a hereditament is wholly or mainly comprised 

of qualifying new structures, “mainly” means more than half. As the test is 
made in regards to the composition of the structure, it will not be relevant to 
consider matters such as the rateable value or use of parts of the property. 
However, factors such as the area or volume of the property will be relevant. 

 
9.6 Whilst this policy is not intended to capture properties that have been 

refurbished, it is intended to capture those that have been the subject of 
substantial structural construction, so, for example, those properties that are 
built on existing foundations or built around a retained façade are likely to 
benefit from the relief. 

 
9.7 Where a hereditament is created as a result of a split or merger of other 

properties, or where the existing hereditament is altered for example with an 
extension, the same test will apply i.e. the hereditament must be wholly or 
mainly comprised of new structures completed within the necessary 
timeframes to benefit from the exemption. 

 
9.8 We want to ensure that, on the one hand, ratepayers do not benefit merely 

because the property has split or merged but, on the other hand, ensure that 
ratepayers have some flexibility to adapt their properties without losing the 
relief. 

 

Page 97



Updates in blue text 

  

9.9 There will be some instances where this is not clear cut (such as where a 
hereditament is formed from the merger of a hereditament that comprises 
mainly or wholly of new structures with a hereditament that comprises 
structures that are not new).  In such cases we propose that the relief is only 
funded where the new hereditament wholly or mainly comprises qualifying 
new structures.  

 
9.10 The relief will run with the property rather than the owner. So if a developer 

initially owns a hereditament that qualifies for the relief he/she will be able to 
sell/lease the property with the benefit of the remaining term of the relief, 
subject to the ratepayer’s State Aid de minimis limits. 

 
9.11 Properties that are completed before 1 October 2013 will not benefit from 

these proposals. However, hereditaments comprising such properties will not 
be subject to empty property rates for the first 3 or 6 months they are empty, 
in the normal way. 

 
9.12 100% relief in the prescribed circumstances, up to State Aid de minimis limits 

will be available. 
 
9.13 The policy is for the new build empty property exemption to apply to 

unoccupied non domestic properties for the first 18 months following 
completion, if completed after 1 October 2013 and before 30 September 
2016. 

 
9.14 The Non-Domestic Rating (Unoccupied Property) (England) Regulations 2008 

provide that empty property rates are not payable until a non-industrial 
property has been empty for 3 months or an industrial property has been 
empty for 6 months. 

 
9.15 If a hereditament has been subject to apportionment under Section 44A of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1988 (partly occupied hereditaments), the 
same principles may be applied to the unoccupied 

 
10 Local Newspaper Rate Relief (temporary until 31st March 2019) 

 

10.1 The Government has committed to providing funding to local authorities so 

that they can provide a discount worth up to £1,500 a year for 2 years from 

1st April 2017, to office space occupied by local newspapers. This is up to a 

maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and 

up to state aid limits. The relief will be delivered through local authority 

discretionary discount powers (under section 47(3) of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988). 

 

10.2 The Council will grant in accordance with Government guidelines  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



Updates in blue text 

  

11. 2017 Revaluation Reliefs 
 
11.1 As part of the Spring 2017 Budget, the Chancellor announced three new 

discretionary rate reliefs to be implemented for business ratepayers with effect 
from 1st April 2017: 

 

 Supporting Small Business Relief  

 Supporting Pubs Relief  

 Local Discretionary Rate Relief  
 

11.2 The three new reliefs have been implemented under Section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act as a discretionary award made by Billing Authorities. 
The Government will fully reimburse all amounts awarded under SSBR and 
SPR by a Section 31 grant.  However, LDRR is being funded through a 
£300m fund allocated to each Authority through a formula-based grant, and 
Government has tasked all Authorities with putting together their own 
schemes of LDRR. 

 
 Supporting Small Businesses Relief (temporary from 1st April for a 

maximum period of 5 years) 
 
11.3 This relief is a discretionary relief made available to those ratepayers facing 

large increases as a result of a loss of Small Business Rate Relief or Rural 
Rate Relief. 
 

11.4 Supporting Small Businesses relief will be paid such that the increase per year in 
the bills of affected ratepayers is limited to the greater of:  
 a percentage annual increase of 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 15% from 2017-

18 to 2021-22 all plus inflation, or;  

 a cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month). This cash minimum increase 

ensures that those ratepayers paying nothing or very small amounts in 2016-

17 after small business rate relief are brought into paying something.  

 
11.5 In the first year of the scheme this means that all ratepayers losing some or all 

of their SBRR or RRR will see the increase in their bill capped at £600. The 
cash minimum increase is £600 per year thereafter.  Those businesses who 
were previously receiving SBRR in 2016/2017 but whose RV is more than 
£51,000 from 1st April 2017 will not be liable to pay the supplement (1.3p in 
2017/18) to fund small business rate relief while they are eligible for the 
Supporting Small Business relief scheme.  

 

11.6 Ratepayers can remain in the Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme for 
either 5 years or until they reach the bill they would have paid without the 
scheme.  

 

11.7 Awards of Supporting Small Businesses relief will be made for no more than    
one year at a time and will be reviewed each year at the time of the annual 
billing. Entitlement will therefore end on the earliest of: 

 the end of the financial year for which the award was made, 

 the date that the ratepayer ceases to satisfy the qualifying criteria, or 

 the date that the property becomes unoccupied or occupied by a charity 
or Community Amateur Sports Club. 

Page 99



Updates in blue text 

  

 
 
11.8 This relief, as with all other DRRs, is subject to State Aid law. Ratepayers 

entitled to Mandatory Relief (such Charities and Community Amateur Sports 
Clubs) or Section 44A relief (apportionment of RV for partly occupied 
properties) are not entitled to SSBR.  
 

11.9 The Council will be applying this relief in accordance with Government 
guidelines and confirming in writing to those eligible businesses. Those 
businesses that feel they may be eligible but have not received a letter and 
revised bill need to contact the Council. 

 
Supporting Pubs Relief (from 1st April for one year) 

 
11.10 Supporting Pubs Relief scheme for pubs that have a rateable value of below 

£100,000. Under the scheme, eligible pubs will receive a £1,000 discount on their 

bill for 2017/18.  

 

11.11 For the purpose of this relief, the Council’s policy intention is that eligible pubs 

should:  

 be open to the general public  

 allow free entry other than when occasional entertainment is provided  

 allow drinking without requiring food to be consumed  

 permit drinks to be purchased at a bar.  

 
11.12 Hereditaments which are excluded from this relief include restaurants, cafes, 

nightclubs, hotels, snack bars, guesthouses, boarding houses, sporting venues, 

music venues, festival sites, theatres, museums, exhibition halls, cinemas, 

concert halls, casinos.  

11.13 The Council will be applying this relief in accordance with Government guidelines 
and confirming in writing to those eligible businesses. Those businesses that feel 
they may be eligible but have not received a letter and revised bill need to contact 
the Council. 

 
Local Discretionary Rate Relief (temporary until 31st March 2021) 

 
11.14 The Government also announced the introduction of a Local Discretionary Rate 

Relief – the scheme is designed to assist small/medium ratepayers who have 
suffered significant increases in rate liability due to the revaluation and the 
subsequent increase to their Rateable Value. The scheme is in place for a period 
of 4 years at a reducing rate over the 4 years. 

 
11.15 Each Authority is to be provided with a share of a £300 million fund to support 

their local businesses – which is to be administered through Authorities 
discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government Act 1988.  

 
11.16 Government consider that Councils are best placed to determine how this fund 

should be targeted and administered to support those businesses with the 
greatest need, and so each Authority is required to propose their own scheme.  
 

Page 100



Updates in blue text 

  

11.17 The Council has determined that Local Discretionary Rate Relief will be awarded 

using the following criteria:  

 The increase has to be attributable to the 2017 revaluation  

 Relief will not be awarded where mandatory relief is granted  

 The rateable value of the property, in the 2017 Rating List must not exceed 

£200,000  

 In assessing any potential entitlement to an award under this scheme, the 

Council will compare the following:-  

-  The rate liability of the ratepayer at 31st March 2017 after any reliefs and 
reductions; and  

-  The rate liability of the taxpayer 1st April 2017 taking into account any 
transitional relief or discretionary relief within this policy  

 Relief will only be given to premises which are liable for occupied rates. No 

relief within this scheme will be granted for unoccupied premises.  

 Relief will only be granted to ratepayers who were in occupation at 31st March 

2017 and in occupation on 1st April 2017 and for each day subsequently 

 Ratepayers taking up occupation after the 1st April 2017 will not be eligible for 

relief on the basis that new ratepayers would not have suffered from 

increases due to a revaluation  

 Relief will be targeted to local businesses and not those businesses/charities 

that are national or multi-national in nature.  

 Relief will not be awarded to Local Authorities  

 
11.18 The Council will encouraging those businesses who may qualify for this relief to 

apply. Therefore, the scheme will be administered in the following way:  

 For awards of £1,000 or less Officers may grant without a formal application 

and issue notification which requests the business to contact the Council if 

they feel they are not eligible based on the criteria set  

 For awards of £1,000 or more, individual applications and ‘state aid’ 

declarations will be required and considered by the Income Team. 

 Ratepayers will be required to notify the council if they cease to satisfy the 

qualifying criteria.  

 Relief will end on the earliest of; the end of the financial year, the date the 

property becomes unoccupied or the date that the ratepayer ceases to satisfy 

the qualifying criteria  

 
11.19 The proposed amount of relief is tapered and estimated to be calculated as 

follows:- 

 Amount of Relief* 

2017/18 Award = 35% of the increase in rate liability 

2018/19 2017/18 award x 50% (for clarity, this will be half 
of the relief awarded in 2017/18) 

2019/20 2018/19 award x 40% (for clarity, this will be half 
of the relief awarded in 2017/18) 

2020/21 2019/20award x 14% (for clarity, this will be half of 
the relief awarded in 2017/18) 

*The levels of relief applied will be reviewed regularly in year and annually to ensure that the 
support scheme is being operated in the most effective way. 

Page 101



Updates in blue text 

  

 
11.20 In exceptional circumstances, the Council shall consider applications on a case 

by case basis where the ratepayer falls outside the criteria detailed in paragraph 
11.17 but where the ratepayer can demonstrate that they are experiencing severe 
financial difficulties due to the revaluation on 1st April 2017.  

 
11.21 The proposed scheme also allows the Council to review and amend the amount of 

relief during the course of the year and on an annual basis to reflect changing 
circumstances. 

 
12 Reoccupation Relief  
 
12.1 This is a temporary measure that applies to ratepayers moving into previously 

empty retail premises between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2016 only, the 
government is not changing the legislation around the reliefs available to 
properties. Instead the government will, in line with the eligibility criteria set 
out in this guidance, reimburse local authorities that use their discretionary 
relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act (under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, as amended), to grant relief. 

 
 12.2 Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments that:  

 When previously in use, were wholly or mainly used for retail as set out in 
below  

  Were empty for 12 months or more immediately before their reoccupation  

  Become reoccupied between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2016  

  Are being used for any use (ie not just retail use) except as set out below  
 
12.3 There is no rateable value limit for the hereditament in respect of either the 

previous or reoccupied use. However, State Aid De Minimis limits may limit 
the amount of relief given.  

 
12.4 In relation to a premises’ previous use for the purposes of Reoccupation 

Relief we consider retail to mean:  
  

i. Hereditaments that were being used for the sale of goods to visiting 
members of the public:  

 Shops (such as: florist, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, 
stationers, off licence, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, 
supermarkets, etc)  

 Charity shops  

 Opticians  

 Post offices  

 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, 
garage doors)  

 Car/ caravan show rooms  

 Second hard car lots  

 Markets  

 Petrol stations  

 Garden centres  

 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire)  

Page 102



Updates in blue text 

  

 
ii.  Hereditaments that were being used for the provision of the following 

services principally to visiting members of the public:  
 

 Hair and beauty services (such as: hair dressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 
tanning shops, etc)  

 Shoe repairs/ key cutting  

 Travel agents  

 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre  

 Dry cleaners  

 Launderettes  

 PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair  

 Funeral directors  

 Photo processing  

 DVD/ video rentals  

 Tool hire  

 Car hire  
 

iii. Hereditaments that were being used for the provision of the following              
services principally to visiting members of the public:  

 

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, bureaux de change, 
payday loan shops, betting shops, pawn brokers)  

 Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies)  
 
iv. Hereditaments that were being used for the sale of food and/ or drink to 

visiting members of the public:  
 

  Restaurants  

  Takeaways  

  Sandwich shops  

  Coffee shops  

  Pubs  

  Bars  
  
12.5 The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be 

impossible to list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also be 
mixed uses. However, it is intended to be a guide for to the types of uses that 
government considers for this purpose to be retail. Authorities should 
determine for themselves whether particular properties not listed were broadly 
similar in nature to those above and, if so, to consider them to be retail. 
Conversely, properties that were not broadly similar in nature to those listed 
above should not be considered to be retail.  

 
12.6 The new use of the reoccupied premises can be for any use (i.e. not just retail 

uses) except for hereditaments wholly or mainly being used as betting shops, 
payday loan shops, and pawn brokers.  

  

Page 103



Updates in blue text 

  

12.7 As the grant of the relief is discretionary, authorities may choose not to grant 
the relief if they consider that appropriate, for example where granting the 
relief would go against the authority’s wider objectives for the local area or 
where it would not help a shopping area to thrive. We would encourage 
councillors to be consulted on the final scheme that the local authority adopts, 
so there is a clear line of accountability in case of a dispute on the final local 
scheme that is adopted.  

 
12.8 Relief will be available for 18 months from the first day the hereditament 

becomes occupied as long as the first day falls between 1 April 2014 and 31 
March 2016, subject to the hereditament remaining continuously occupied.  

 
12.9 The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated 

on a daily basis.  
 
12.10 Under this scheme the relief available for each property is 50% of the 

business rates liability after any mandatory or other discretionary reliefs (other 
than retail relief) have been applied, up to State Aid De Minimis limits. The 
relief should be calculated ignoring any prior year adjustments in liabilities 
which fall to be liable on the day.  

 
12.11 Councils may use their discretionary powers to offer further discounts outside 

this scheme (and under local rate retention, 50 per cent of the cost would be 
locally funded and 50 per cent funded by central government).  

  
12.12 Reoccupation Relief will be State Aid compliant where it is provided in 

accordance with the De Minimis Regulations (1407/2013)2.  
 
12.13 Where a new hereditament has been created by a split or merger of 

hereditament(s), the new hereditament will be eligible for the Reoccupation 
Relief where at least half of the floor area of the new hereditament is made up 
of retail hereditaments that have been empty for 12 months or more (subject 
to meeting the other criteria ) 

 
12.14 Where a hereditament in receipt of Reoccupation Relief splits or merges to 

form new hereditaments, the new hereditaments will not be eligible for the 
remaining term of Reoccupation Relief.  

 
12.15 Where a hereditament in receipt of Reoccupation Relief becomes unoccupied 

for any period of time less than 12 months it will not be eligible for any further 
Reoccupation Relief on occupation. However, if a hereditament that has 
previously received Reoccupation Relief becomes empty for 12 months or 
more it will be eligible for an additional 18 months Reoccupation Relief if the 
criteria are met.  

  
12.16 The relief will run with the property rather than the ratepayer. So if a 

hereditament is in receipt of Reoccupation Relief and a new ratepayer 
becomes liable for the property they will benefit from the remaining term of the 
relief, subject to the new ratepayer’s State Aid de minimis limits.  

 
12.17 Where a property is eligible for Enterprise Zone relief, that relief should be 

granted and this will be funded under the rates retention scheme by a 

Page 104



Updates in blue text 

  

deduction from the central share. If a property in an Enterprise Zone is not 
eligible for Enterprise Zone relief, or that relief has ended, Reoccupation 
Relief may be granted in the normal way, and this would be reimbursed by 
grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. Local authorities 
should not claim funding for Reoccupation Relief on properties which would 
otherwise qualify for Enterprise Zone government funded relief.  

 
13 Other Businesses  
 
13.1 Discretionary Rate Relief of up to 100% may be awarded to any other 

Ratepayer in exceptional circumstances under Clause 69 of the Localism Act 
2011, where it is in the Council’s strategic or operational interests to do so.       

 
14 Hardship Relief 
 
14.1 The Council may remit payment of Business Rates in part or in full in certain 

cases of hardship. 
 
14.2 An application for reduction must consider:  
 

 That the Ratepayer would sustain hardship if remission of rates was not 
granted; and 

 That it is reasonable to grant remission, having regard to the interests of 
the Council Taxpayer. 

 
14.3 The circumstances where the Council would consider for the granting of 

Hardship Relief are:  
 

 The potential threat of closure of a business, and the loss of employment 
to local people; and 

 Preserving the local community and fabric of village life. 
 
14.4 For claiming Hardship Relief the following conditions apply:  

 

 Applications must be in writing 

 Remission should be the exception rather than the rule 

 All factors relating to the business should be taken into account; and 

 Each case should be decided on its own merits. 
 
14.5 The following evidence will be taken into consideration when assessing an 

application for Hardship Relief: 
 

 The current year’s accounts should be compared with previous years’ 
accounts 

 Explanation of how the hardship has arisen; and 

 Steps taken to try to remedy the situation. 
  
15 Appeals 
 
15.1 Appeal against a refusal to grant Mandatory Relief is to the Magistrates Court 

at a Liability Order hearing if the decision is whether a property falls into one 
of the necessary categories. 

 

Page 105



Updates in blue text 

  

15.2 The appeal will be by way of Judicial Review if the appeal is in respect of a 
village not being designated as a Rural Settlement. 

 
15.3 An appeal against a refusal to grant Discretionary Relief will be by way of 

Judicial Review. 

Page 106



Updates in blue text 

  

Annex 1 
 

 
Rural Settlement Areas within the High Peak 

 

In accordance with the Local Government and Rating Act 1997 (LGRA 1997), a total 
of 35 Rural Settlement Areas (RSAs) have been designated within the High Peak as 
follows: 
 
Aston      Hayfield 
 
Bamford     Hope 
 
Birch Vale     King Sterndale 
 
Bridgemont     Little Hayfield 
 
Brookbottom     New Smithy 
 
Brough     Peak Dale 
 
Buxworth     Peak Forest 
 
Castleton     Rowarth 
 
Chapel Milton    Shatton 
 
Charlesworth     Small Dale 
 
Chinley     Sparrowpit 
 
Chisworth     Sterndale Moor 
 
Combs     Thornhill 
 
Dove Holes     Thornsett 
 
Edale      Tunstead Milton 
 
Furness Vale     Whitehough 
 
Fernilee     Wormhill 
 
Hague Bar 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 113

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 123

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	4 Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes
	Appendix A

	5 Glossop Creative Industries Assessment
	6 Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and Neglect
	7 Growth Strategy
	Appendix A

	8 Business Rates Revaluation and Local Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme
	Appendix A

	11 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	12 Disposal of extended leasehold interest in the former Swineshaw water treatment works   at Blackshaw Road/ Bute Street, Glossop
	13 Contract Award - Structural Engineering Services Framework
	14 Sale of freehold interest in land at Woodsmill, Glossop

